
Americans with Disabilities Act  

The City of Stonecrest does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, activities and 
employment practices.   

If you need auxiliary aids and services for effective communication (such as a sign language interpreter, an assistive 
listening device or print material in digital format) or reasonable modification to programs, services or activities 
contact the ADA Coordinator, Megan Reid, as soon as possible, preferably 2 days before the activity or event.  

 

 

CITY OF STONECREST, GEORGIA  
 

Honorable Mayor Jason Lary, Sr.  
Council Member Jimmy Clanton, Jr. – District 1  Council Member Rob Turner- District 2  

Council Member Jazzmin Cobble – District 3  Council Member George Turner- District 4  

Council Member Tammy Grimes – District 5  
 

CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION  
VIRTUAL MEETING 

October 12, 2020 at 6:00 p.m. 
Citizen Access: URL 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Jason Lary 

II. AGENDA ITEMS: 
1. Review Proposed FY21 Budget 
2. Create job descriptions and advertise for Finance Director and Internal Auditor 

 
III. ADJOURNMENT 

 



 

 

 

October 7, 2020 

 

Members of the City Council 
City of Stonecrest 
3120 Stonecrest Blvd. 
Stonecrest, GA 30038 
 

Dear City Council: 

 

Attached is the proposed fiscal year 2021 (FY21) Annual Budget for the City of Stonecrest.  

Our national, state and local governments have all faced the impact from the COVID-19 pandemic and 
there is a need for the City of Stonecrest to take proactive steps to protect the financial resources and 
city-owned assets for the residents based on historical analysis over the past 3 years of existence.  The 
FY21 budget reflects a response in anticipation of a reduction in selective sales and uses tax revenues, 
franchise fee receipts, and dollars spent in the community due to the pandemic.  

While the FY21 annual budget of $13,493,400 provides a starting point for the upcoming fiscal year, the 
annual budget can be amended throughout the year as Council approves various policy updates based 
on changing conditions such as receipt of grants, one-time expenses, unanticipated revenue and 
expenses, etc. 

 

Budget Highlights 

Revenue 

Although we have budgeted conservatively due to COVID-19, the City’s Revenue will increase in several 
areas for FY20. The Insurance Premium taxes are expected to be $3.7 million. The City began receiving 
the Title Ad Valorem Taxes in FY19. This new revenue source includes $662,000 YTD for 2020 and we 
anticipate receiving $887,300 in FY21.  This was the first year for the City to receive personal property 
and real property taxes which began mid-year. The anticipated combined revenue anticipated for FY21 
is $1.9 million 

The combined general, hotel/motel and SPLOST fund budgets total $24.8 million, which represents an 
increase of $7.5 million or 30.3% over the FY 2020 budget. 



 

 

Building permit revenue has far exceeded the $1.1 million dollars budgeted and we anticipate revenue 
of $1.8 million for FY21. Another revenue source that has exceeded the anticipated revenue is business 
taxes which is commonly referred to as business licenses. It is important to note that this revenue was 
moved from Licenses & Fees (32120) to (31610) to be in line with the State Chart of accounts. 

Capital  

The City of Stonecrest Comprehensive Plan 2038 cited need for new mixed-use areas that feature 
greenspace, neighborhood parks and pedestrian connectivity and the Stonecrest Transportation Master 
Plan lays out the framework for infrastructure improvements for the next 20 years. The FY21 budget 
includes proposed expenditures from the City’s general fund and SPLOST revenues. 

City Administration 

Funding for resurfacing and infrastructure improvements, including sidewalks: $8 million 

Funding for facility upgrades at the New City Hall building: $1 million 

Parks Administration 

Funding for park upgrades and infrastructure: $650,000 

 Building Improvements: $100,000 

Funding for potential park purchases ($650,000), increased by 53.8% to account for proposed 
acquisitions of various strategic greenspace opportunities around the City: 

 Arabia Mountain 
 Everette Park expansion 
 Fairington Pkwy greenspace (66 acres) 

Infrastructure improvements in the Parks using SPLOST (including site improvements, bike and 
pedestrian paths/trails): $1.75 million 

Personnel 

Although, the Jacobs contract regarding personnel is still under review, the FY21 budget includes a 
modest 5% increase for all roles.  The City Clerk will become the first full time employee of the City of 
Stonecrest.  If Public Works services is transitioned to Stonecrest from DeKalb County in 2021, there will 
be a substantial increase of 20-25 positions.   

Service Enhancements 

Proposed enhancements to Park & Recreation services include: 

 Increase City Event Funding to $200,000 
 Increase funding for Technical Services to $217,000 
 Increase Professional Services funding to $1,001,760 
 Increase funding for Security in our Parks network to $42,000 



 

 

In the coming months, Staff will begin evaluation of an Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) software 
solution to meet the needs of Stonecrest in the areas of finance, building permits, licenses, and possibly 
code enforcement and municipal court; software selection and implementation will likely occur during 
FY21. 

FY21 will represent the first full year of the Stonecrest Convention and Visitor’s Bureau (SCVB), a fund 
was established for its operation.  

The Urban Redevelopment Agency (URA) was implemented to facilitate the purchase of the New City 
Hall building (the old Sam’s Club) and the Sears property at the Mall at Stonecrest. 

The Development Authority has been in operation since 2019 and a budget of $100,000 was included for 
that fund. 

The Housing Authority began operation in 2019 and has facilitated the development of senior housing in 
Stonecrest, a fund for this authority was established for $100,000. 

 

Future Considerations 

Public Works Services 

An analysis of the feasibility of the City of Stonecrest developing a Public Works Department is on-going 
with a decision by the Council to take place during FY21; several considerations will go into that decision 
including the opportunity for an enhance to the current service level delivery, an increase in the number 
of City staff, as well as, an analysis of the revenue from property tax and stormwater fees. 

Legal Fees 

As the City matures, the staff continues to analyze the most effective way to have Legal services 
provided to the City on a full time and on demand basis. 

 

Financial Assessment 

The City of Stonecrest is developing and maintaining a strong financial position through conservative 
financial management and adherence to its fiscal policies. 

Fund Balances 

One measure of a City’s financial strength is the level of its fund balance.  The City’s estimated 
unreserved fund balance in the General Fund will be approximately $2.5 million as of December 31, 
2020, this balance represents 24.1% of the FY20 total budgeted General Fund expenditures. 

 

  



 

 

Intergovernmental Activity 

In FY20 the city was awarded $562,496 in Local Maintenance and Improvement Grant (LMIG) funds from 
the Georgia Department of Transportation.  In FY21, the amount will be $497,475.  This amount 
represents a 11.6% decrease due to the pandemic.  The LMIG Program is an annual program 
administered by Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) that provides funds to qualifying 
municipalities based on the number of paved and unpaved centerline miles and a 30% local match for 
the purpose of capital improvements to the city’s transportation infrastructure. 

SPLOST 

The City began receiving SPLOST funds in May 2018. Those funds are scheduled to be received through 
FY23.  The City of Stonecrest’s total portion of SPLOST is projected to be $47 million.  There was $6.3 
million budgeted to be spent in FY20 and $10.7 is expected to be spent for FY21. The anticipated SPLOST 
revenue for FY21 is $6.9 million The current SPLOST balance is $10.5 million. 

 

Conclusion 

Performance among various funds in FY20 were diverse and the General Fund has remained fairly stable 
through-out the year in spite of COVID-19.  Barring any unforeseen events, the City will continue to 
increase fund balance. The City of Stonecrest is still a young city that is determined to create the 
Stonecrest standard and continue to be the “The City of Innovation and Excellence”. This level of 
commitment will allow Stonecrest to become a regional and state destination that residents will be 
proud to call home and visitors will be proud to work, play, and visit. It is with pleasure that I submit this 
proposed budget.  I look forward to the review of the proposed budget on October 23, 2020. 

 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

 

Jason Lary, Mayor 

 

 

Plez A. Joyner, Deputy City Manager 



Budget Worksheet
STONECREST, CITY OF

100-GENERAL FUND

*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

REVENUES

031     TAXES

03110     GENERAL PROPERTY TAX

31100     REAL PROPERTY-CURRENT YEAR 0 0 632,302 0 1,629,400 0.00

31110     PUBLIC UTILITY TAX 0 0 0 0 30,400 0.00

31200     REAL PROPERTY-PRIOR YEAR 0 0 0 0 120,000 0.00

31301     PERSONAL PROPERTY-CURRENT YEAR 0 0 151,965 0 357,100 0.00

31310     MOTOR VEHICLE TAX 0 0 0 0 12,400 0.00

31315     TITLE AD VALOREM TAX 285,929 0 662,289 750,000 887,300 18.31

31325     HEAVY EQUIPMENT TAX 0 0 0 0 100 0.00

31360     REAL ESTATE TRANSFER TAX 0 0 45 0 0 0.00

31400     PERSONAL PROPERTY- PRIOR YEAR 0 0 0 0 26,000 0.00

03110     TOTAL  GENERAL PROPERTY TAX 285,929 0 1,446,601 750,000 3,062,700 308.36

03111     FRANCHISE FEES

31371     ATL GAS LIGHT (SOUTHERN CO.) 325,305 300,000 165,559 300,000 300,000 0.00

31372     SSEMC 430,750 400,000 285,653 400,000 324,800 (18.80)

31373     COMCAST 521,919 554,000 384,314 554,000 509,300 (8.07)

31374     AT&T 195,827 145,400 143,654 145,400 183,700 26.34

31375     GEORGIA POWER 1,077,080 755,000 0 695,000 1,000,000 43.88

03111     TOTAL  FRANCHISE FEES 2,550,881 2,154,400 979,180 2,094,400 2,317,800 10.67



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

03140     SELECTIVE SALES AND USE TAX

34200     ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGE EXCISE TAX 138,000 117,000 53,320 125,000 76,800 (38.56)

34300     LOCAL OPTION MIXED DRINK 27,705 3,000 22,382 20,000 32,400 62.00

03140     TOTAL  SELECTIVE SALES AND USE TAX 165,705 120,000 75,702 145,000 109,200 (24.69)

03160     BUSINESS TAXES

31610     BUSINESS & OCCUPATION TAXES 0 0 0 0 1,387,800 0.00

31620     INSURANCE PREMIUM TAX 3,821,203 3,000,000 0 3,820,000 3,790,000 (0.79)

31630     FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS TAXES 0 5,000 0 5,000 0 (100.00)

03160     TOTAL  BUSINESS TAXES 3,821,203 3,005,000 0 3,825,000 5,177,800 35.37

031     TOTAL  TAXES 6,823,718 5,279,400 2,501,483 6,814,400 10,667,500 56.54

032     LICENSES & FEES

03210     BUSINESS LICENSE

32110     ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES CURRENT YR 97,117 75,000 127,150 100,000 127,100 27.10

32111     ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES FUTURE YR 85,400 0 0 6,000 0 (100.00)

32120     GEN BUSINESS LICENSE CURRENT Y 1,602,296 1,200,000 1,304,146 1,550,000 0 (100.00)

32121     GEN BUSINESS LICENSE FUTURE YR 1,244 0 995 0 0 0.00

03210     TOTAL  BUSINESS LICENSE 1,786,057 1,275,000 1,432,291 1,656,000 127,100 (92.32)

03220     LICENSES & PERMITS

32200     BUILDING PERMITS 931,945 1,150,000 1,774,738 950,000 1,800,000 89.47

32202     DEVELOPMENT PERMITS 87,880 150,000 29,415 80,000 44,100 (44.88)

32205     ZONING APPLICATIONS 13,005 10,000 8,555 10,000 5,700 (43.00)

03220     TOTAL  LICENSES & PERMITS 1,032,830 1,310,000 1,812,708 1,040,000 1,849,800 77.87

032     TOTAL  LICENSES & FEES 2,818,887 2,585,000 3,244,999 2,696,000 1,976,900 (26.67)



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

033     INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUES

03430     STATE GOVERNMENT GRANTS

33430     STATE GRANT CAPITAL-LMIG DIREC 536,511 0 562,496 560,000 497,500 (11.16)

03430     TOTAL  STATE GOVERNMENT GRANTS 536,511 0 562,496 560,000 497,500 (11.16)

033     TOTAL  INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUES 536,511 0 562,496 560,000 497,500 (11.16)

034     GENERAL GOVERNMENT

03400     GENERAL GOVERNMENT

34120     FILM PERMITTING 8,932 7,500 0 7,500 7,500 0.00

34721     FIELD RENTAL 0 0 280 0 0 0.00

34750     PROGRAM FEES 0 0 1,100 0 4,600 0.00

34792     EVENTS 0 0 475 0 0 0.00

03400     TOTAL  GENERAL GOVERNMENT 8,932 7,500 1,855 7,500 12,100 61.33

034     TOTAL  GENERAL GOVERNMENT 8,932 7,500 1,855 7,500 12,100 61.33

036     INTEREST REVENUES

03610     INTEREST REVENUES

36100     INTEREST 0 0 0 0 400 0.00

03610     TOTAL  INTEREST REVENUES 0 0 0 0 400 0.00

036     TOTAL  INTEREST REVENUES 0 0 0 0 400 0.00

038     MISC REVENUE

03800     MISC REVENUE

38900     OTHER MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 0 0 (96)

03800     TOTAL  MISC REVENUE 0 0 (96) 0 0

0

0 0 0.00

360,000 339,000

0.00

038     TOTAL  MISC REVENUE 0 0 (96) 0 0.00

039     OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

03910     OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

39120     TRANSFER FROM HOTEL 0 0 190,526 (5.83)



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

(5.83)

03910     TOTAL  OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 0 0 190,526 360,000 339,000

10,437,900 13,493,400

(5.83)

039     TOTAL  OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 0 0 190,526 360,000 339,000

29.27

EXPENDITURES

010     ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICE

05110     CITY COUNCIL

TOTAL  REVENUES 10,188,048 7,871,900 6,501,263

51110     REGULAR SALARIES 91,250 95,000 72,500 95,000 150,000 57.89

51200     FICA/MEDICARE 6,981 8,000 5,546 8,000 8,000 0.00

51210     GROUP INSURANCE 0 3,000 0 3,000 3,000 0.00

51240     RETIREMENT 0 3,000 0 3,000 3,000 0.00

51270     WORKERS COMP 0 2,000 0 2,000 2,000 0.00

52105     UNIFORMS 178 1,000 0 1,000 1,000 0.00

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 14,023 20,000 23,000 20,000 200,000 900.00

52350     TRAVEL EXPENSE 326 0 803 25,000 0 (100.00)

52352     TRAVEL-DISTRICT 1 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

52353     TRAVEL-DISTRICT 2 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

52354     TRAVEL-DISTRICT 3 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

52355     TRAVEL-DISTRICT 4 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

52356     TRAVEL-DISTRICT 5 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

52359     MAYOR TRAVEL EXPENSES 13,884 8,000 8,500 12,000 3,000 (75.00)

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 9,327 15,000 597 15,000 0 (100.00)



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

52374     EDUCATION & TRAINING-D 1 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

52375     EDUCATION & TRAINING-D 2 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

52376     EDUCATION & TRAINING-D 3 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

52377     EDUCATION & TRAINING- D 4 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

52378     EDUCATION & TRAINING-D 5 0 0 690 0 1,000 0.00

52379     EDUCATION & TRAINING-MAYOR 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 2,244 6,000 107 6,000 6,000 0.00

53160     MAYOR EXPENSE 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

53169     MAYOR ALLOWANCES 8,508 5,000 5,842 7,000 0 (100.00)

53170     COMMITTEE SUPPORT 0 2,500 0 6,700 0 (100.00)

53171     COMMITTE SUPPORT-D 1 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

53172     COMMITTE SUPPORT-D 2 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

53173     COMMITTE SUPPORT -D 3 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

53174     COMMITTE SUPPORT-D 4 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

53175     CITY EVENTS 0 0 0 0 100,000 0.00

53176     COMMITTE SUPPORT-D 5 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

53177     COMMITTE SUPPORT-MAYOR 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

53178     COUNCIL INITIATIVES 4,288 6,000 1,780 6,000 0 (100.00)

05110     TOTAL  CITY COUNCIL 151,009 174,500 119,365 209,700 493,000 135.10

05130     CITY MANAGER

52121     CONTRACTUAL SVCS JACOBS 196,924 199,000 171,565 208,950 219,398 5.00



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

52350     TRAVEL EXPENSE 3,309 500 0 500 1,000 100.00

52360     DUES & FEES 0 500 0 500 500 0.00

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 3,949 1,000 0 1,000 1,000 0.00

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 987 1,000 6,265 1,000 2,000 100.00

05130     TOTAL  CITY MANAGER 205,169 202,000 177,830 211,950 223,898 5.64

05131     CITY CLERK

52112     ELECTION SERVICES 47,686 50,000 0 0 50,000 0.00

52121     CONTRACTUAL SVCS JACOBS 123,077 123,000 107,487 129,150 135,608 5.00

52135     SOFTWARE/SERVICE CONTRACTS 0 5,000 3,960 5,000 46,000 820.00

52330     ADVERTISING 4,908 5,000 2,360 6,000 10,000 66.67

52350     TRAVEL EXPENSE 0 250 0 250 250 0.00

52360     DUES & FEES 0 400 235 400 400 0.00

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 275 1,000 0 1,000 1,000 0.00

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 1,731 1,000 18,304 3,000 3,000 0.00

53101     POSTAGE 65 0 0 200 200 0.00

53110     OPERATING SUPPLIES 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

54240     COMPUTER/SOFTWARE 4,900 15,000 15,985 15,000 0 (100.00)

05131     TOTAL  CITY CLERK 182,642 200,650 148,331 160,000 246,458 54.04

05135     PUBLIC WORKS

51300     TECHNICAL SERVICES 0 15,000 0 15,000 15,000 0.00

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 17,821 579,000 0 450,000 400,000 (11.11)



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

52121     CONTRACTUAL SVCS JACOBS 305,232 305,000 265,546 302,250 317,363 5.00

52200     REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 0 0 0 0 60,000 0.00

52330     ADVERTISING 4,750 6,000 0 6,000 0 (100.00)

52350     TRAVEL EXPENSE 710 4,000 0 4,000 4,000 0.00

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 1,405 4,750 0 4,750 5,000 5.26

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 1,596 4,250 0 4,250 4,250 0.00

54140     TRANS INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEME 536,511 0 0 560,000 0 (100.00)

05135     TOTAL  PUBLIC WORKS 868,025 918,000 265,546 1,346,250 805,613 (40.16)

05136     PUBLIC SAFETY

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0 24,000 14,000 24,000 24,000 0.00

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 0 500 0 500 500 0.00

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 0 500 0 500 500 0.00

05136     TOTAL  PUBLIC SAFETY 0 25,000 14,000 25,000 25,000 0.00

05151     FINANCE ADMINISTRATION

52110     AUDIT SERVICES 56,776 60,000 13,633 60,000 70,000 16.67

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 47,403 120,000 49,906 120,000 120,000 0.00

52121     CONTRACTUAL SVCS JACOBS 384,001 385,000 333,896 404,250 424,463 5.00

52135     SOFTWARE/SERVICE CONTRACTS 3,946 20,000 4,560 20,000 20,000 0.00

52350     TRAVEL EXPENSE 1,542 2,000 0 2,000 2,000 0.00

52360     DUES & FEES 1,238 1,500 1,381 1,500 1,500 0.00

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 1,640 3,000 0 3,000 3,000 0.00



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 736 500 1,508 500 500 0.00

54240     COMPUTER/SOFTWARE 4,280 25,000 6,661 25,000 100,000 300.00

05151     TOTAL  FINANCE ADMINISTRATION 501,562 617,000 411,545 636,250 741,463 16.54

05153     LEGAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0 20,000 0 20,000 20,000 0.00

52122     ATTORNEY FEES 487,373 300,000 448,528 550,000 550,000 0.00

52130     ATTORNEY FEES/OTHER 67,435 50,000 0 50,000 50,000 0.00

05153     TOTAL  LEGAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT 554,808 370,000 448,528 620,000 620,000 0.00

05155     ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

34120     FILM PERMITTING 0 5,000 0 0 0 0.00

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 55,978 50,000 76,000 50,000 95,000 90.00

52121     CONTRACTUAL SVCS JACOBS 128,001 128,000 163,166 134,400 141,120 5.00

52132     MARKETING 17,912 15,000 19,000 20,000 45,000 125.00

52133     TRAINING TRAVEL 0 0 0 0 21,000 0.00

52134     FILM MARKETING 0 0 9,200 20,000 30,000 50.00

52360     DUES & FEES 75 2,000 650 4,000 4,000 0.00

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 906 2,500 0 10,000 10,000 0.00

52371     DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 947 12,000 0 15,000 15,000 0.00

52372     LEGAL SVCS (DEVELOPMENT AUTH) 122 10,000 0 20,000 20,000 0.00

52373     ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2,500 100,000 0 100,000 0 (100.00)

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 261 500 0 500 500 0.00



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

53130     FOOD 0 0 0 0 6,000 0.00

54230     FURNITURE AND FIXTURES 0 0 138 0 0 0.00

58210     CAPITAL LEASE-PRINCIPAL 0 0 0 0 10,350 0.00

05155     TOTAL  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 206,702 325,000 268,154 373,900 400,970 7.24

05156     FACILITIES & BLDG/ CITY HALL

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 10,446 1,000 826 1,000 0 (100.00)

52200     REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 1,752 2,500 10,505 2,500 0 (100.00)

52210     RECYCLE/SHREDDING 49 2,000 331 2,000 0 (100.00)

52301     REAL ESTATE RENTS/LEASES 210,134 205,000 200,529 260,000 280,000 7.69

53102     PEST CONTROL 455 1,500 585 1,500 5,000 233.33

53121     WATER/SEWER 0 0 30 0 500 0.00

53122     NATURAL GAS 0 0 0 0 500 0.00

53123     ELECTRICITY 18,870 30,000 44,714 30,000 160,000 433.33

53161     SMALL EQUIPMENT 0 2,500 1,707 2,500 2,500 0.00

54130     BUILDINGS & IMPROVEMENTS 9,292 20,000 6,945 20,000 120,000 500.00

54230     FURNITURE AND FIXTURES 3,604 10,000 0 10,000 10,000 0.00

54250     OTHER EQUIPMENT 111 2,500 0 2,500 5,000 100.00

05156     TOTAL  FACILITIES & BLDG/ CITY HALL 254,713 277,000 266,172 332,000 583,500 75.75

05157     COMMUNICATIONS

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 22,972 25,000 22,064 28,000 28,000 0.00

52121     CONTRACTUAL SVCS JACOBS 324,924 325,000 287,774 341,250 358,313 5.00



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

52135     SOFTWARE/SERVICE CONTRACTS 0 0 1,488 0 0 0.00

52340     PRINTING 587 500 0 500 500 0.00

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 0 1,500 0 1,800 1,800 0.00

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 789 1,000 360 1,000 1,000 0.00

53161     SMALL EQUIPMENT 1,399 5,000 0 5,000 5,000 0.00

54250     OTHER EQUIPMENT 497 2,000 0 2,000 2,000 0.00

05157     TOTAL  COMMUNICATIONS 351,168 360,000 311,686 379,550 396,613 4.50

05158     IT/GIS

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 7,376 10,000 0 10,000 10,000 0.00

52121     CONTRACTUAL SVCS JACOBS 344,617 350,000 243,173 367,500 367,500 0.00

52135     SOFTWARE/SERVICE CONTRACTS 20,102 11,000 21,685 25,000 31,000 24.00

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 4,327 6,000 877 6,000 6,000 0.00

53161     SMALL EQUIPMENT 16,098 12,000 12,871 18,000 18,000 0.00

54240     COMPUTER/SOFTWARE 17,967 18,000 16,554 18,000 25,500 41.67

54250     OTHER EQUIPMENT 2,735 4,000 0 4,000 4,000 0.00

05158     TOTAL  IT/GIS 413,222 411,000 295,160 448,500 462,000 3.01

05159     GENERAL OPERATIONS

52105     UNIFORMS 0 0 0 0 20,000 0.00

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 4,824 15,000 0 15,000 0 (100.00)

52121     CONTRACTUAL SVCS JACOBS 103,385 105,000 90,399 111,250 116,820 5.01

52132     MARKETING 0 0 10,633 90,000 0 (100.00)



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

52135     SOFTWARE/SERVICE CONTRACTS 14,850 20,000 0 20,000 0 (100.00)

52200     REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 80 2,000 1,216 2,000 2,000 0.00

52210     RECYCLE/SHREDDING 0 0 0 0 2,000 0.00

52232     EQUIPMENT LEASE 5,423 20,000 44,778 25,000 25,000 0.00

52310     GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE 20,209 25,000 23,044 25,000 25,000 0.00

52330     ADVERTISING 0 0 1,600 0 0 0.00

52340     PRINTING 2,309 5,000 0 5,000 2,500 (50.00)

52360     DUES & FEES 50,434 15,500 64,432 55,000 70,000 27.27

52361     BANK FEES 37,460 2,000 31,606 2,000 50,000 0.00

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 0 500 0 500 0 (100.00)

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 34,791 20,000 33,989 30,000 35,000 16.67

53101     POSTAGE 2,533 8,500 2,074 8,500 5,000 (41.18)

53103     OFFICE SUPPLIES 60 0 309 100 0 (100.00)

53105     INTERNET/PHONES 37,769 33,000 62,716 30,000 100,000 233.33

53161     SMALL EQUIPMENT 0 3,000 0 3,000 0 (100.00)

54230     FURNITURE AND FIXTURES 0 5,000 0 5,000 0 (100.00)

54231     SIGNS 0 2,000 0 2,000 0 (100.00)

54240     COMPUTER/SOFTWARE 10,044 40,000 18,571 40,000 0 (100.00)

54250     OTHER EQUIPMENT 840 2,500 0 2,500 0 (100.00)

57101     TAX BILL PROCESSING 0 0 50,000 0 30,000 0.00



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

58400     CLOSING COSTS 0 0 37,840 0 0 0.00

05159     TOTAL  GENERAL OPERATIONS 325,011 324,000 473,207 471,850 483,320 2.43

05900     DESIGNATED RESERVER

57902     RESERVE CONTINGENCY 0 550,000 0 70,350 473,159 572.58

05900     TOTAL  DESIGNATED RESERVER 0 550,000 0 70,350 473,159 572.58

010     TOTAL  ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICE 4,014,031 4,754,150 3,199,524 5,285,300 5,954,994 12.67

060     PARKS

06210     PARKS ADMINISTRATION

51300     TECHNICAL SERVICES 0 0 0 12,000 217,000 0.00

52105     UNIFORMS 732 1,000 112 4,000 4,000 0.00

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 91,131 125,000 207,376 600,000 1,001,760 66.96

52121     CONTRACTUAL SVCS JACOBS 443,079 450,000 386,884 472,500 496,125 5.00

52135     SOFTWARE/SERVICE CONTRACTS 7,875 5,000 0 5,000 10,620 112.40

52180     SECURITY 0 0 1,860 20,640 42,000 103.49

52200     REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 534,685 500,000 428,657 305,000 305,000 0.00

52232     EQUIPMENT LEASE 0 0 487 21,150 21,000 (0.71)

52320     INTERNET/PHONES 0 0 0 0 1,700 0.00

52330     ADVERTISING 4,950 4,000 695 6,000 10,000 66.67

52360     DUES & FEES 825 1,000 65 1,000 3,300 230.00

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 600 4,000 1,325 4,000 9,300 132.50

52385     CONTRACT LABOR 0 0 2,275 44,360 17,400 (60.78)



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 54,947 50,000 11,133 50,000 50,000 0.00

53124     UTILITIES 0 30,000 2,013 75,000 75,000 0.00

53125     PARKS ACQUISITION 130,915 300,000 8,751 300,000 650,000 116.67

53126     SUMMER PROGRAMS 0 100,000 0 100,000 100,000 0.00

53175     CITY EVENTS 0 0 0 22,000 200,000 809.09

54130     BUILDINGS & IMPROVEMENTS 0 0 0 0 100,000 0.00

54240     COMPUTER/SOFTWARE 1,162 10,000 0 10,000 50,000 400.00

06210     TOTAL  PARKS ADMINISTRATION 1,270,901 1,580,000 1,051,633 2,052,650 3,364,205 63.90

060     TOTAL  PARKS 1,270,901 1,580,000 1,051,633 2,052,650 3,364,205 63.90

070     COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

07210     COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

52105     UNIFORMS 59 1,000 0 500 500 0.00

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 120 0 0 1,000 20,000 0.00

52121     CONTRACTUAL SVCS JACOBS 526,771 525,000 457,779 551,250 578,813 5.00

52135     SOFTWARE/SERVICE CONTRACTS 25,500 8,000 0 8,000 8,000 0.00

52180     SECURITY 120 600 0 3,000 3,000 0.00

52200     REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 0 200 0 200 200 0.00

52330     ADVERTISING 26,741 26,000 3,200 20,000 20,000 0.00

52340     PRINTING 808 4,000 0 2,000 2,000 0.00

52360     DUES & FEES 52 200 0 200 200 0.00

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 342 4,000 0 4,000 7,000 75.00



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 854 2,000 505 2,000 2,000 0.00

53161     SMALL EQUIPMENT 0 2,000 0 2,000 2,000 0.00

54240     COMPUTER/SOFTWARE 4,000 10,000 0 8,000 8,000 0.00

54250     OTHER EQUIPMENT 0 2,000 536 1,500 1,500 0.00

07210     TOTAL  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 585,367 585,000 462,020 603,650 653,213 8.21

070     TOTAL  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 585,367 585,000 462,020 603,650 653,213 8.21

072     BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

07220     BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 197 1,000 48,045 70,000 70,000 0.00

52121     CONTRACTUAL SVCS JACOBS 108,308 112,000 94,671 117,600 123,480 5.00

52132     MARKETING 45,997 24,000 17,373 40,000 40,000 0.00

52340     PRINTING 0 0 0 1,000 1,000 0.00

52350     TRAVEL EXPENSE 0 2,000 1,824 30,000 15,000 (50.00)

52360     DUES & FEES 0 0 0 0 2,000 0.00

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 0 0 0 0 3,000 0.00

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 45 2,500 805 2,500 2,500 0.00

53130     FOOD 0 0 0 0 6,000 0.00

58210     CAPITAL LEASE-PRINCIPAL 0 0 0 0 8,000 0.00

07220     TOTAL  BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 154,547 141,500 162,718 261,100 270,980 3.78

072     TOTAL  BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 154,547 141,500 162,718 261,100 270,980 3.78

073     COMMUNITY & CULTURAL AFFAIRS

07330     COMMUNITY & CULTURAL AFFAIRS

52121     CONTRACTUAL SVCS JACOBS 118,154 120,000 103,215 126,000 132,300 5.00



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

52135     SOFTWARE/SERVICE CONTRACTS 0 0 0 3,500 2,300 (34.29)

52330     ADVERTISING 2,680 2,500 11,000 25,000 25,000 0.00

52340     PRINTING 1,756 2,000 25 2,000 2,000 0.00

52350     TRAVEL EXPENSE 236 500 (54) 2,000 4,300 115.00

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 0 0 0 0 600 0.00

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 808 2,500 0 2,500 1,500 (40.00)

53175     CITY EVENTS 0 0 0 0 20,000 0.00

53179     INITIATIVES 0 0 580 19,500 0 (100.00)

07330     TOTAL  COMMUNITY & CULTURAL AFFAIRS 123,634 127,500 114,766 180,500 188,000 4.16

073     TOTAL  COMMUNITY & CULTURAL AFFAIRS 123,634 127,500 114,766 180,500 188,000 4.16

080     CODE ENFORCEMENT

08210     CODE ENFORCEMENT

52105     UNIFORMS 1,511 2,500 280 2,500 2,500 0.00

52121     CONTRACTUAL SVCS JACOBS 905,850 905,000 786,713 950,250 997,763 5.00

52135     SOFTWARE/SERVICE CONTRACTS 0 0 12,300 0 30,000 0.00

52180     SECURITY 420 500 0 500 2,000 300.00

52340     PRINTING 1,167 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 0.00

52360     DUES & FEES 100 1,000 0 1,000 1,000 0.00

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 0 2,000 0 2,000 2,000 0.00

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 1,203 3,000 494 3,000 3,000 0.00

53161     SMALL EQUIPMENT 0 2,200 0 2,200 2,200 0.00



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

54240     COMPUTER/SOFTWARE 0 0 0 0 20,000 0.00

54250     OTHER EQUIPMENT 1,175 2,300 0 40,000 40,000 0.00

08210     TOTAL  CODE ENFORCEMENT 911,426 920,500 801,787 1,003,450 1,102,463 9.87

080     TOTAL  CODE ENFORCEMENT 911,426 920,500 801,787 1,003,450 1,102,463 9.87

090     BUILDING

09210     BUILDING

52105     UNIFORMS 802 2,500 599 2,500 3,500 40.00

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0 500 0 500 500 0.00

52121     CONTRACTUAL SVCS JACOBS 886,158 890,000 769,625 934,500 981,225 5.00

52135     SOFTWARE/SERVICE CONTRACTS 0 2,500 0 2,500 5,000 100.00

52340     PRINTING 0 2,000 0 2,000 2,000 0.00

52360     DUES & FEES 0 1,000 0 1,000 1,000 0.00

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 209 2,000 0 2,000 4,000 100.00

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 2,931 3,000 533 3,500 3,500 0.00

53101     POSTAGE 0 0 (505) 0 0 0.00

54240     COMPUTER/SOFTWARE 0 0 0 0 2,500 0.00

54250     OTHER EQUIPMENT 0 2,500 958 14,000 15,520 10.86

09210     TOTAL  BUILDING 890,100 906,000 771,210 962,500 1,018,745 5.84

090     TOTAL  BUILDING 890,100 906,000 771,210 962,500 1,018,745 5.84

093     OTHER FINANCING USES

09300     OTHER FINANCING USES

57200     PAYMENTS TO OTHER AGENCIES 0 0 0 0 357,600 0.00



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

61103     TRANSFER TO SPLOST 0 0 0 0 497,500 0.00

61104     TRANSFER TO MUNICIPAL COURT 0 0 0 0 85,700 0.00

09300     TOTAL  OTHER FINANCING USES 0 0 0 0 940,800 0.00

093     TOTAL  OTHER FINANCING USES 0 0 0 0 940,800 0.00

TOTAL  EXPENDITURES 7,950,006 9,014,650 6,563,658 10,349,150 13,493,400 30.38

TOTAL FUND SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 2,238,042 (1,142,750) (62,395) 88,750 0 (100.00)

REVENUES

031     TAXES

03140     SELECTIVE SALES AND USE TAX

31410     HOTEL/MOTEL EXCISE TAX 704,989 0 427,863 600,000 565,000 (5.83)

03140     TOTAL  SELECTIVE SALES AND USE TAX 704,989 0 427,863 600,000 565,000 (5.83)

031     TOTAL  TAXES 704,989 0 427,863 600,000 565,000 (5.83)

TOTAL  REVENUES 704,989 0 427,863 600,000 565,000 (5.83)

EXPENDITURES

075     HOUSING

07500     ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

54220     VEHICLES 0 0 8,500 0 0 0.00

57200     PAYMENTS TO OTHER AGENCIES 0 0 0 0 226,000 0.00

61100     TRANSFER TO GENERAL FUND 422,994 0 190,526 360,000 339,000 (5.83)

75400     DISCOVER DEKALB 281,996 0 0 240,000 0 (100.00)

Budget Worksheet

STONECREST, CITY OF

275-HOTEL/MOTEL FUND



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

07500     TOTAL  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 704,990 0 199,026 600,000 565,000 (5.83)

075     TOTAL  HOUSING 704,990 0 199,026 600,000 565,000 (5.83)

TOTAL  EXPENDITURES 704,990 0 199,026 600,000 565,000 (5.83)

TOTAL FUND SURPLUS (DEFICIT) (1) 0 228,837 0 0 0.00

REVENUES

330     SPLOST

33100     SPLOST

33710     SPLOST REVENUE 7,639,992 0 4,779,992 6,300,000 6,980,000 10.79

33100     TOTAL  SPLOST 7,639,992 0 4,779,992 6,300,000 6,980,000 10.79

330     TOTAL  SPLOST 7,639,992 0 4,779,992 6,300,000 6,980,000 10.79

360     INTEREST EARNED

36100     INTEREST REVENUES

36100     INTEREST 14,351 0 1,875 20,000 2,800 (86.00)

36100     TOTAL  INTEREST REVENUES 14,351 0 1,875 20,000 2,800 (86.00)

360     TOTAL  INTEREST EARNED 14,351 0 1,875 20,000 2,800 (86.00)

390     OTHE SOURCES OF REVENUES

39100     OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

39101     TRANSFER FROM GENERAL FUND 0 0 0 0 497,500 0.00

39100     TOTAL  OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 0 0 0 0 497,500 0.00

390     TOTAL  OTHE SOURCES OF REVENUES 0 0 0 0 497,500 0.00

TOTAL  REVENUES 7,654,343 0 4,781,867 6,320,000 7,480,300 18.36

Budget Worksheet

STONECREST, CITY OF

275-HOTEL/MOTEL FUND



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

EXPENDITURES

330     SPLOST

05135     PUBLIC WORKS

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0 0 0 0 500,000 0.00

54140     TRANS INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEME 3,444,862 5,364,000 3,060,767 4,200,000 6,000,000 42.86

54141     TRANS INFRA IMPROVEMENT SIDEWA 0 0 0 0 750,000 0.00

54142     TRANS INFRA IMPROVEMENT BIKE P 0 0 0 0 750,000 0.00

05135     TOTAL  PUBLIC WORKS 3,444,862 5,364,000 3,060,767 4,200,000 8,000,000 90.48

05156     FACILITIES & BLDG/ CITY HALL

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0 0 0 0 250,000 0.00

54130     BUILDINGS & IMPROVEMENTS 0 0 0 0 750,000 0.00

54140     TRANS INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEME 28,250 1,080,000 0 1,600,000 0 (100.00)

05156     TOTAL  FACILITIES & BLDG/ CITY HALL 28,250 1,080,000 0 1,600,000 1,000,000 (37.50)

06210     PARKS ADMINISTRATION

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0 0 21,659 0 250,000 0.00

54120     SITE IMPROVEMENTS 0 0 0 0 750,000 0.00

54140     TRANS INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEME 708,787 756,000 0 520,000 0 (100.00)

54142     TRANS INFRA IMPROVEMENT BIKE P 0 0 0 0 750,000 0.00

54250     OTHER EQUIPMENT 0 0 55,581 0 0 0.00

06210     TOTAL  PARKS ADMINISTRATION 708,787 756,000 77,240 520,000 1,750,000 236.54

330     TOTAL  SPLOST 4,181,899 7,200,000 3,138,007 6,320,000 10,750,000 70.09

TOTAL  EXPENDITURES 4,181,899 7,200,000 3,138,007 6,320,000 10,750,000 70.09



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

0 0

TOTAL FUND SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 3,472,444 (7,200,000) 1,643,860 0

REVENUES

035     FINES AND FORFEITURES

03510     FINE AND FORFEITURES

35100     MUNICIPAL COURT 0 0 12,400 0.00

03510     TOTAL  FINE AND FORFEITURES 0 0 0 0 12,400 0.00

035     TOTAL  FINES AND FORFEITURES 0 0 0 0 12,400 0.00

390     OTHE SOURCES OF REVENUES

39100     OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

39101     TRANSFER FROM GENERAL FUND 0 0 0 0 85,700 0.00

39100     TOTAL  OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 0 0 0 0 85,700 0.00

390     TOTAL  OTHE SOURCES OF REVENUES 0 0 0 0 85,700 0.00

TOTAL  REVENUES 0 0 0 0 98,100 0.00

EXPENDITURES

050     COURT

05160     MUNICIPAL COURT

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0 0 0 0 20,000 0.00

52121     CONTRACTUAL SVCS JACOBS 0 0 0 0 27,600 0.00

52135     SOFTWARE/SERVICE CONTRACTS 0 0 0 0 2,000 0.00

52140     SOLICITOR 0 0 0 0 30,000 0.00

52150     PUBLIC DEFENDER 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

52160     PROBATION SERVICES 0 0 0 0 2,500 0.00

745-MUNICIPAL COURT

Budget Worksheet

STONECREST, CITY OF

0.00(3,269,700)



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

52170     COURT CLERK 0 0 0 0 1,000 0.00

52180     SECURITY 0 0 0 0 5,000 0.00

52351     ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES 0 0 0 0 3,000 0.00

52370     EDUCATION & TRAINING 0 0 0 0 4,000 0.00

54240     COMPUTER/SOFTWARE 0 0 0 0 2,000 0.00

05160     TOTAL  MUNICIPAL COURT 0 0 0 0 98,100 0.00

050     TOTAL  COURT 0 0 0 0 98,100 0.00

TOTAL  EXPENDITURES 0 0 0 0 98,100 0.00

TOTAL FUND SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

REVENUES

034     GENERAL GOVERNMENT

03400     GENERAL GOVERNMENT

34139     PLANN. & DEVELOP. FEES-OTHER 0 0 0 0 100,000 0.00

03400     TOTAL  GENERAL GOVERNMENT 0 0 0 0

034     TOTAL  GENERAL GOVERNMENT 0 0 0 0 100,000

100,000

100,000 0.00

0 0

0.00

TOTAL  REVENUES 0 0 0 0

100,000

0.00

EXPENDITURES

072     BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

07220     BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0 0 100,000 0.00

07220     TOTAL  BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 0 0 0 0 0.00

Budget Worksheet

STONECREST, CITY OF

801-STONECREST DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

0.00

072     TOTAL  BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 0 0 0 0 100,000

0 0

0.00

TOTAL  EXPENDITURES 0 0 0 0 100,000

0.00

REVENUES

034     GENERAL GOVERNMENT

03400     GENERAL GOVERNMENT

TOTAL FUND SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 0 0 0

34990     CHARGES FOR SERVICES-OTHER 0 0 0 0 100,000

0.00

0.00

03400     TOTAL  GENERAL GOVERNMENT 0 0 0 0 100,000

0 100,000

0.00

034     TOTAL  GENERAL GOVERNMENT 0 0 0 0 100,000

0.00

EXPENDITURES

010     ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICE

05159     GENERAL OPERATIONS

TOTAL  REVENUES 0 0 0

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0 0 0 0 100,000 0.00

05159     TOTAL  GENERAL OPERATIONS 0 0 0 0 100,000 0.00

010     TOTAL  ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICE 0 0 0 0 100,000 0.00

0

TOTAL  EXPENDITURES 0 0 0 0 100,000 0.00

TOTAL FUND SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 0 0 0 0 0.00

Budget Worksheet

STONECREST, CITY OF

802-STONECREST HOUSING AUTHORITY

Budget Worksheet



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

0 226,000

REVENUES

039     OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

03910     OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

39120     TRANSFER FROM HOTEL 0 0 0

0.00

0.00

03910     TOTAL  OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 0 0 0 0 226,000

0 226,000

0.00

039     TOTAL  OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 0 0 0 0 226,000

0.00

EXPENDITURES

072     BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

07220     BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

TOTAL  REVENUES 0 0 0

52120     PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 0 0 0 0 75,000 0.00

52122     ATTORNEY FEES 0 0 0 0 25,000 0.00

52330     ADVERTISING 0 0 0 0 69,000 0.00

52340     PRINTING 0 0 0 0 10,000 0.00

52350     TRAVEL EXPENSE 0 0 0 0 20,000 0.00

52360     DUES & FEES 0 0 0 0 10,000 0.00

53100     OPERATING SUPPLIES 0 0 0 0 5,000 0.00

58210     CAPITAL LEASE-PRINCIPAL 0 0 0 0 12,000 0.00

07220     TOTAL  BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 0 0 0 0 226,000 0.00

072     TOTAL  BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 0 0 0 0 226,000 0.00

TOTAL  EXPENDITURES 0 0 0 0 226,000 0.00

TOTAL FUND SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 0 0 0 0 0 0.00

REVENUES

039     OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

STONECREST, CITY OF

80-STONECREST CONVENTION & VISITOR'S BUREAU



*** Previous Year ***     2019 *** Current Year ***     2020 *** Next Year ***     2021 Pct
IncYTD Actual Budget YTD Actual Budget Dept Req Admin Rcmd Final

03910     OTHER FINANCING SOURCES

39101     TRANSFER FROM GENERAL FUND 0 0 0 0 357,600 0.00

03910     TOTAL  OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 0 0 0 0 357,600 0.00

039     TOTAL  OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 0 0 0 0 357,600 0.00

TOTAL  REVENUES 0 0 0 0 357,600 0.00

EXPENDITURES

093     OTHER FINANCING USES

09300     OTHER FINANCING USES

58100     DEBT-PRINCIPAL 0 0 0 0 200,000 0.00

58200     DEBT-INTEREST 0 0 0 0 157,600 0.00

09300     TOTAL  OTHER FINANCING USES 0 0 0 0 357,600 0.00

093     TOTAL  OTHER FINANCING USES 0 0 0 0 357,600 0.00

TOTAL  EXPENDITURES 0 0 0 0 357,600 0.00

TOTAL FUND SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 0 0 0 0 0 0.00



 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
 
SUBJECT: Create job descriptions and advertise for Finance Director and Internal Auditor 
 
(  ) ORDINANCE (  ) POLICY (  ) STATUS REPORT 
      
(  ) DISCUSSION ONLY (  )  RESOLUTION (X)  OTHER 

 
 
Date Submitted: 10-2-2020       Work Session:  X      Council Meeting:  
 
 
 
SUBMITTED BY:   Jazzmin Cobble, George Turner, Rob Turner, Tammy Grimes 
 
PURPOSE:  Create job descriptions and advertise for Finance Director and Internal Auditor 
HISTORY:  Per the city charter, both the finance director and the internal auditor positions are 
charter positions with council appointments.  
 
FACTS AND ISSUES: Both positions should be filled as they are chartered positions. The 
current internal auditor prefers not to have his contract renewed and suggests hiring a full-time 
internal auditor instead.  
 
 
OPTIONS:  
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Create job descriptions and advertise for them both. Each 
should be contracted directly with the city and not with the current city contractor.  
 
 



   

CITY OF STONECREST, GEORGIA 

Honorable Mayor Jason Lary, Sr. 
Council Member Jimmy Clanton, Jr. – District 1 Council Member Rob Turner- District 2 

Council Member Jazzmin Cobble – District 3 Council Member George Turner- District 4 

Council Member Tammy Grimes – District 5 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
VIRTUAL MEETING 

October 12, 2020 
7:00 p.m. 

Citizen Access: URL 

I. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Jason Lary 
 

II. ROLL CALL:  Megan Reid, City Clerk 
 

III. INVOCATION 
 

IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

V. APPROVAL OF THE COUNCIL AGENDA 
 

VI. MINUTES: 
a. Approval of the September 28, 2020 City Council Meeting Minutes 

 
VII. PRESENTATIONS:  

a. Stonecrest Police Feasibility Study 
 

VIII. APPOINTMENTS: 

a. N/A 
 

IX. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
(this meeting will be conducted virtually, the public comments received via email in 
advance of the meeting will be read into the minutes by the City Clerk) 

 
X. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

 
(since this meeting will be conducted virtually, only those public hearing comments 
received via email in advance of the meeting will be read by the City Clerk) 



Americans with Disabilities Act 
 

The City of Stonecrest does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, 
activities and employment practices.  
 
If you need auxiliary aids and services for effective communication (such as a sign language 
interpreter, an assistive listening device or print material in digital format) or reasonable 
modification to programs, services or activities contact the ADA Coordinator, Megan Reid, as soon 
as possible, preferably 2 days before the activity or event. 

 
XI. OLD BUSINESS: 

a. Approve Special Land Use Permit (SLUP-20-003) application / 7101 
Covington Hwy - Convenience Store with accessory fuel pumps and restaurant 
with a drive-thru 

b. Approve Georgia Outdoor Stewardship Program Resolution 
 
 

XII. NEW BUSINESS: 
a. Executed Contracts 

i. Sean de Palma- Parks and Recreation Consultant 
ii. Brenda Cornelius- External Liaison Consultant 

b. Contract with an external auditing firm to conduct a comprehensive audit of the 
government purchasing/credit cards  
 

XIII. EXECUTIVE SESSION:  
 
(when an executive session is required, one will be called for the following issues:  
1) Personnel, 2) Litigation, 3) Real Estate) 
 

XIV. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS 
 

XV. CITY ATTORNEY COMMENTS 
 

XVI. MAYOR AND COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 

XVII. ADJOURNMENT 



   

CITY OF STONECREST, GEORGIA 

Honorable Mayor Jason Lary, Sr. 
Council Member Jimmy Clanton, Jr. – District 1 Council Member Rob Turner- District 2 

Council Member Jazzmin Cobble – District 3 Council Member George Turner- District 4 

Council Member Tammy Grimes – District 5 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
VIRTUAL MEETING 

September 28, 2020 
7:00 p.m. 

Citizen Access: URL 

I. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Jason Lary 
 

II. ROLL CALL:  Megan Reid, City Clerk 
 

III. INVOCATION- Council Member Rob Turner led the invocation. 
 

IV. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

V. APPROVAL OF THE COUNCIL AGENDA 

Motion 1 – made by Council Member Rob Turner to approve the agenda with 
removal of Item C. Zoning Ordinance Revision Update under presentations and 
adding Item C. Discussion of Public Input during Public Hearings on Zoom under 
New Business and was seconded by Council Member Jazzmin Cobble. 
 
Motion passed unanimously. 

 
VI. MINUTES: 

 
a. Approval of Council Meeting Minutes September 14, 2020 

 

Motion 2 – made by Council Member Rob Turner to approve the September 14, 2020 
Council Meeting Minutes.  Seconded by Council Member Tammy Grimes.  

 
Motion passed unanimously. 

 
 



Americans with Disabilities Act 
 

The City of Stonecrest does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, 
activities and employment practices.  
 
If you need auxiliary aids and services for effective communication (such as a sign language 
interpreter, an assistive listening device or print material in digital format) or reasonable 
modification to programs, services or activities contact the ADA Coordinator, Megan Reid, as soon 
as possible, preferably 2 days before the activity or event. 

VII. PRESENTATIONS:  
a. October is National Code Compliance Month 

 
Code Enforcement Director Alejandro Ferrell gave a presentation on 
National Code Compliance Month 
 

b. Georgia Rock the Vote – October 24, 2020 
 
Chief of Staff Iris Settle let everyone know about an upcoming event to 
promote Voter Registration and the General Election. 

 
VIII. APPOINTMENTS OR PERSONNEL: 

None. 
 

IX. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
(this meeting will be conducted virtually, the public comments received via email in 
advance of the meeting will be read into the minutes by the City Clerk) 
 
-- 
Concerned CitizensInGa stopmetrogreen@yahoo.com 
Good evening, 
 
This is just a reminder that South Dekalb residents are still watching what is 
happening, or NOT happening, with Stonecrest and Metro Green. Please do not think 
we are going away. We also would like to see some type of update in your meetings. 
We understand that there is ongoing litigation. However,  there could still be some 
type of update provided to the community especially since you all refused to place a 
Stop Work Order on that site. 
 
Please be advised we are not taking our eyes, or our voices, off of this toxic dump site 
on Miller Road. We will continue to hold every one of you accountable if you are not 
ACTIVELY fighting against Metro Green Recycling. We have not forgotten. 
 
Thank you, 
 
Concerned Citizens in South Dekalb 
 

mailto:stopmetrogreen@yahoo.com


Americans with Disabilities Act 
 

The City of Stonecrest does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, 
activities and employment practices.  
 
If you need auxiliary aids and services for effective communication (such as a sign language 
interpreter, an assistive listening device or print material in digital format) or reasonable 
modification to programs, services or activities contact the ADA Coordinator, Megan Reid, as soon 
as possible, preferably 2 days before the activity or event. 

Sent from Mail for Windows 10 
-- 
Alexis Morris alexismorris1972@gmail.com 
 
Good afternoon! 
 
This letter comes with continued disappointment in our Government's leadership.  
Once again, there are items on the agenda which affect the community that has not 
been shared nor discussed with the citizens.  I understand that the city has contracted 
with the Collaborative Firm to revise the city ordinances.  This is taking place without 
any input from the citizens.  There has been no town-hall meetings, surveys, calls, or 
post to find out what ordinances need to be revised.  As it stands at present, the 
council and mayor need to be replaced as they have shown a reckless disregard for 
the citizen's health and well-being.  So how dare you attempt to move forward with 
revising ordinances when some of you don't even know what is in the City's Charter?  
The Charter needs to be revised before we can move forward with any ordinance 
changes.   
 
There are several issues that are still on the table.  To date, Stonecrest Governing 
Board refuses to address or update the citizens about the City's position regarding 
Metro Green Recycling Plant.  So until we resolve the current issues, the entire 
council familiarize themselves with the charter, and Jason Lary is removed from 
being Mayor, I strongly oppose any revisions to any ordinances. 
  
I can be reached at 404-670-3184 if any of you care to discuss this matter further.  I 
am open to a candid and healthy conversation in the pursuit of what is in the best 
interest of the citizens of Stonecrest.  
 
Concerned Resident 
Alexis B. Morris   
-- 
 
Dave Marcus dmarcus123@gmail.com 
 
Good evening Mr. Mayor and council members.   Ms. Cobble, it is especially nice to 
see you where you belong tonight.  
 

mailto:alexismorris1972@gmail.com
mailto:dmarcus123@gmail.com


Americans with Disabilities Act 
 

The City of Stonecrest does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, 
activities and employment practices.  
 
If you need auxiliary aids and services for effective communication (such as a sign language 
interpreter, an assistive listening device or print material in digital format) or reasonable 
modification to programs, services or activities contact the ADA Coordinator, Megan Reid, as soon 
as possible, preferably 2 days before the activity or event. 

My comment is about Stonecrest 2020 Paving Project - Phase 2 
 
My understanding is that you are being asked to vote on whether to increase the 
amount of an existing contract by slightly more than two million dollars.  I am not 
qualified to judge whether this is legally proper or not and will leave that to lawyers 
in the room.   But please keep in mind that it seems that different lawyers have voiced 
different opinions about this and--if another vendor sues--what will it cost the city in 
legal fees?  And in reputation?  Developers lurk everywhere and they judge the 
attractiveness of the city by many things.  Now that we are over the recent unpleasant 
attempt to remove Ms. Cobble from her seat, perhaps having a goal of 12 months 
without an embarrassing lawsuit might be a good idea. 
 
What I do want to ask is that you take these things four things into consideration as 
you are deciding: 
 
1. The prices of asphalt goes up and down.  We are at 
the end of the paving season.  If it is lower than it was when the original contract was 
signed, does that mean we could get a better deal from another company? 
2. Will your vote remove an opportunity to work with 
other vendors?  For instance, there is a gentleman who is trying to start an asphalt and 
paving operation in Stonecrest.  If he had suceeeded in getting approval for the first 
location he wanted, a vote to no-bid this two million would be a vote to exclude him - 
a local, minority-owned company. 
3. Will you vote imply that next spring the contract with 
Snell should again be increased?  If it is worth doing now, and is legal, what prevents 
you from doing it again and again? 
 
 
4. Is this an emergency?  Are these all extremely poor 
roads that really need the work?  I drove over two of them this week and they did not 
seem like really bad situations.   But others may be much much worse. 
 
So in your vote, please balance the need to fix really bad roads with shutting out other 
vendors; with having the squeaky-clean appearance that we need but don’t quite have; 
and whether we will get the best deal.  I am not sure there is a clear-cut answer. 
 



Americans with Disabilities Act 
 

The City of Stonecrest does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, 
activities and employment practices.  
 
If you need auxiliary aids and services for effective communication (such as a sign language 
interpreter, an assistive listening device or print material in digital format) or reasonable 
modification to programs, services or activities contact the ADA Coordinator, Megan Reid, as soon 
as possible, preferably 2 days before the activity or event. 

And, after you vote, please ask the question, “Why are you put in the position of 
making this choice?”.   Was it that the two million dollars just appeared?  Was it that 
no one told you that the money would be available when the fixed-price contract was 
signed earlier in the year?   I would have thought that phase II contracting would have 
been started as soon as the phase 1 contract was signed. There might be some good 
reasons that you are being forced at this late date to figure out the best choice.  But if 
the city knew earlier that not all the budgeted money was going to be spent in round 
one, why didn’t the administration start round two early enough to allow for a 
competitive process?  That is the appearance that people may complain about.   
 
Thank you. 
-- 
Pyper Green greenpyper@yahoo.com 
 
To the Mayor & Council: 
 
Once again we are concerned about the activities of this administration. We are 
concerned with the Zoning Code update. The Metro Green disaster, created by this 
group, should lead you to involve the citizens before you all do anything. The citizens 
are the ones suffering because of the lack of REAL Zoning regulations in Stonecrest. 
Please allow the public to have major input prior to implementing any type of Zoning 
changes. Please remember your job is to PROTECT and ENHANCE the community. 
Metro Green shows that serious Zoning ordinances need to be in place to protect the 
community against  toxic businesses. Citizens deserve to receive actual notifications 
of any businesses coming to our area & not signs put up on a desolate back road like 
you allowed with Metro Green.  We need Stonecrest to NOT bypass Dekalb County’s 
waste management plan like you did with Metro Green. We need Stonecrest officials 
to realize this is not a dictatorship, but a democracy FOR the people. We need you to 
LISTEN to the community. We need you to INFORM the community as well. Had 
Council members actually provided real updates to the community, Metro Green 
would not be building in our backyards.  
 
We want real Zoning ordinances put in place that will never allow a Baldwin Asphalt 
to operate. We want Zoning ordinances that will never allow a Metro Green to be 
built in the backyards of taxpaying VOTERS. We want Zoning ordinances that 
protect our community, and not make South Dekalb an industrial wasteland. We want 
Zoning that will allow for green space and not more warehouses. 

mailto:greenpyper@yahoo.com


Americans with Disabilities Act 
 

The City of Stonecrest does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, 
activities and employment practices.  
 
If you need auxiliary aids and services for effective communication (such as a sign language 
interpreter, an assistive listening device or print material in digital format) or reasonable 
modification to programs, services or activities contact the ADA Coordinator, Megan Reid, as soon 
as possible, preferably 2 days before the activity or event. 

 
Do better for South Dekalb. 
 
Pyper Bunch 
 
Sent from Mail for Windows 10 
-- 
 
Zay zay1071@yahoo.com 
 
My name is Xavier bolton, I’m a resident of miller woods subdivision. We would all 
of the council members to do all that they can to help us in this fight to stop metro 
green recycling.  We as a community would also like to know what the council 
discovered in there investigation into permits for metro green. Lastly, I hope these 
revisions of ordnance’s does not allow more companies like metro green to enter our 
community. Elected officials please do what is right for our community and it’s 
residents. 
 
Sent from my iPhone 
-- 
 
Elaine Berry rosiebee11@yahoo.com 
 
Mayor Lary, 
  
I understand the city has contracted with the Collaborative Firm to revise the the city 
ordinances. There has been no collaboration with the citizens of Stonecrest. What 
ordinances are you going to revise? Will you allow more polluting industries in the 
residential areas of Stonecrest and unincorporated Dekalb county? Or perhaps more 
gas stations? Why haven't the citizens seen the revisions? PLEASE DON"T make the 
city of STONECREST another Flint, Michigan. We care about our community and 
deserve much better. 
  
Concern Citizen of Stonecrest, 
  
Elaine McCants 
-- 

mailto:zay1071@yahoo.com
mailto:rosiebee11@yahoo.com


Americans with Disabilities Act 
 

The City of Stonecrest does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, 
activities and employment practices.  
 
If you need auxiliary aids and services for effective communication (such as a sign language 
interpreter, an assistive listening device or print material in digital format) or reasonable 
modification to programs, services or activities contact the ADA Coordinator, Megan Reid, as soon 
as possible, preferably 2 days before the activity or event. 

Renee Cail disoni7@yahoo.com 
 
Good Evening  Mayor Jason Lary: 
 
It would be great if you would begin advocating more for the residents of Stonecrest, 
GA. How can you in good faith allow a Collaborative Firm to revise our zoning 
ordinances without notifying the citizens?  What meetings have they initiated with the 
community?  What codes will be revised?  As we read the current ordinances it seems 
as  many of they favor industries, large corporations, and landowners who do not 
reside here nor have they one concern those about those who pay taxes here, reside 
here and support the businesses here.   
 
We are exhausted with hush, hush attitude of your administration. Who or what gives 
you the right to chart our destiny? Are there any areas that have been targeted as 
Opportunity Zones?  If so, why weren't we informed?  Did anyone inform the city 
council members?  Oftentimes, they don't seem to have been informed of critical 
matters or they have been given information without adequate notice to review the 
documents. 
 
We are inundated with SLUP requests, applications for housing in areas that currently 
have the zoning they need, we have industries trying to move in residential areas 
which are beautiful, peaceful and thriving, more unwanted gas stations (incidentally 
electric cars are sustainable and new energy) not to mention unwanted CELL towers 
in residential areas. Last but not least a recycling center being constructed in an 
established neighborhood.  Really???? 
 
The major corporations nationally and globally only come here to get richer. 
Trammell Crow??? Have you noticed the tax incentives they will get for building the 
Home Depot Warehouse in our predominantly African American Community?  Its 
cheaper for them to come here!!!!!! 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:disoni7@yahoo.com


Americans with Disabilities Act 
 

The City of Stonecrest does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, 
activities and employment practices.  
 
If you need auxiliary aids and services for effective communication (such as a sign language 
interpreter, an assistive listening device or print material in digital format) or reasonable 
modification to programs, services or activities contact the ADA Coordinator, Megan Reid, as soon 
as possible, preferably 2 days before the activity or event. 

We tried to meet with you early this year to develop a strong community engagement 
component to no avail. We are still open to creating a healthy dialogue with our city 
officials. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
Renee Cail 
Citizens for a Healthy and Safe Environment CHASE) 
 

X. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
a. SLUP-20-002 (6623 Housworth Lane) - to operate a childcare home up to five 

children 
 

Motion 3-  was made by Mayor Jason Lary to open the Public Hearing for SLUP-20-
002 (6623 Housworth Lane) - to operate a childcare home up to five children and was 
seconded by Council Member Rob Turner. 

Motion passed unanimously. 

Presentation by Applicant. 

Motion 4- was made by Council Member Rob Turner to close the Public Hearing and 
was seconded by Council Member George Turner. 

Motion passed unanimously. 

b.   SLUP-20-003 (7101 Covington Hwy) - to operate a convenience store with 
accessory fuel pumps and restaurant with a drive-thru 
 
Motion 5- was made by Council Member Rob Turner to open the public hearing for 
SLUP-20-003 (7101 Covington Hwy) - to operate a convenience store with accessory 
fuel pumps and restaurant with a drive-thru and was seconded by Council Member 
George Turner. 
 
Motion passed unanimously. 

Presentation by Applicant. 



Americans with Disabilities Act 
 

The City of Stonecrest does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, 
activities and employment practices.  
 
If you need auxiliary aids and services for effective communication (such as a sign language 
interpreter, an assistive listening device or print material in digital format) or reasonable 
modification to programs, services or activities contact the ADA Coordinator, Megan Reid, as soon 
as possible, preferably 2 days before the activity or event. 

Motion 6- was made by Council Member George Turner and was seconded by 
Council Member Tammy Grimes. 
 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 

XI. OLD BUSINESS: 
a. Adopt Parks & Recreation Master Plan 
 
Presented by Lisa Wolff  
 
Motion 7- was made by Council Member Tammy Grimes to adopt the Parks & Recreation 
Master Plan and was seconded by Council Member Rob Turner. 
 
Motion passed unanimously. 
 
b.  Approve COVID-19 Relief Funding Plan Resolution 
 
Motion 8- was made by Council Member Rob Turner to defer the decision until Thursday, 
October 1, 2020 and was seconded by Council Member Tammy Grimes. 
 
Motion was withdrawn by Council Member Rob Turner after much discussion. 
 
Motion 9- was made by Council Member Rob Turner to approve the Covid-19 Relief 
Funding Plan Resolution with changes to adding “or designee” to be added to the last 
paragraph after City Manager and was seconded by Council Member Jazzmin Cobble. 
 
Motion passed 5-0 with Mayor Lary absent. 
 
c.  Approve Stonecrest 2020 Paving Project- Phase 2 
 
Motion 10- was made by Council Member Jazzmin Cobble to deny the Stonecrest 2020 
Paving Project- Phase 2 and was seconded by Council Member Tammy Grimes. 
 
Motion passed 4-1 with Council Member Jimmy Clanton voting nay and Mayor Lary 
was absent. 
 

XII. NEW BUSINESS: 
a. Approve SLUP-20-002 (6623 Housworth Lane) - to operate a childcare home up 

to five children 



Americans with Disabilities Act 
 

The City of Stonecrest does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, 
activities and employment practices.  
 
If you need auxiliary aids and services for effective communication (such as a sign language 
interpreter, an assistive listening device or print material in digital format) or reasonable 
modification to programs, services or activities contact the ADA Coordinator, Megan Reid, as soon 
as possible, preferably 2 days before the activity or event. 

Motion 11- was made by Council Member Tammy Grimes to approve SLUP-20-002 
(6623 Housworth Lane) - to operate a childcare home up to five children and was 
seconded by Council Member Rob Turner. 

Motion passed 5-0 with Mayor Lary absent. 
 

b. Approve SLUP-20-003 (7101 Covington Hwy) - to operate a convenience store with 
accessory fuel pumps and restaurant with a drive-thru 
 
Motion 12-  was made by Council Member Rob Turner to defer the decision until 
October 12, 2020 of SLUP-20-003 with accessory fuel pumps and was seconded by 
Council Member Tammy Grimes. 
 
Motion passed 5-0 with Mayor Lary absent. 
 
Motion 13- was made by Council Member Rob Turner to defer the decision until 
October 12, 2020 of SLUP-20-003 to operate a restaurant with a drive-thru and was 
seconded by Council Member Tammy Grimes. 
 
Motion passed 5-0 with Mayor Lary absent. 
 

c. Discussion of Public Input during Public Hearings on Zoom 
 
Council Member George Turner would like to investigate Public Hearing processes 
on Zoom. 
 

 
XIII. EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 
None. 

 
(when an executive session is required, one will be called for the following issues:  
1) Personnel, 2) Litigation, 3) Real Estate) 
 

XIV. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS 
 
Deputy City Manager Plez Joyner- Get out and Vote! 
 



Americans with Disabilities Act 
 

The City of Stonecrest does not discriminate on the basis of disability in its programs, services, 
activities and employment practices.  
 
If you need auxiliary aids and services for effective communication (such as a sign language 
interpreter, an assistive listening device or print material in digital format) or reasonable 
modification to programs, services or activities contact the ADA Coordinator, Megan Reid, as soon 
as possible, preferably 2 days before the activity or event. 

City Clerk Megan Reid- None 
 

XV. CITY ATTORNEY COMMENTS 
 
None 

 
XVI. MAYOR AND COUNCIL COMMENTS 

 
Council Member Jimmy Clanton/District 1 – Get out and vote and complete your 
Census! 
 
Council Member Rob Turner/District 2 –Please be careful, wear masks and stay 
safe. Get out and vote and complete your Census! 
 
Council Member Jazzmin Cobble/District 3 – Please be careful, wear masks and stay 
safe. Get out and vote and complete your Census! Thanked everyone for their support. 
 
Council Member Tammy Grimes/District 5 – Reiterated everyone sentiments. Also 
said to remember to say Brionna Taylor’s name! 
 
Council Member George Turner/District 4 - Remember the Census and get those 
who are unaccounted for to complete the Census! Keep the Mayor in your prayers he 
left the meeting early due to an illness. 
 

XVII. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Motion 15 – made by Council Member Rob Turner to adjourn the City Council 
Meeting.  Seconded by Council Member Tammy Grimes. 
 
Motion passed unanimously. 





 

1 
 

Contents 

List of Tables ................................................................................................................................................. 3 

Executive Summary ....................................................................................................................................... 4 

Background ................................................................................................................................................... 6 

Approach to the Study .................................................................................................................................. 7 

Preliminary Considerations ....................................................................................................................... 8 

Level of Service ..................................................................................................................................... 8 

Capital and Operational Expenditures .................................................................................................. 8 

E911 Operations .................................................................................................................................... 8 

Risk Management ................................................................................................................................. 8 

Importance of Staffing Levels ............................................................................................................... 9 

Estimating the Costs of a Municipal Police Department ............................................................................ 9 

Method 1: Share of the DCPD Workload and Cost ................................................................................. 10 

Tasks and Assumptions of the Share of the DCPD Workload Method ............................................... 10 

Estimate of Full-Service Stonecrest Police Service Expenditures ....................................................... 12 

Estimate of Basic Stonecrest Police Service Expenditures .................................................................. 13 

Method 2: Built Budgets: Cost Per Officer Methods .............................................................................. 13 

International Association of Chiefs of Police Staffing Methodology .................................................. 14 

Officer Counts Based on Proportionate Share of DCPD Officers ........................................................ 16 

Assessing the Estimates ...................................................................................................................... 17 

Build-a-Budget Method: Police Operational Costs Per Officer – Including Operational Capital and 

General Fund Department Support .................................................................................................... 18 

Build-a-Budget Method: Police Operational Costs Per Officer   (Excluding Operational Capital and 

General Fund Department Support) ................................................................................................... 19 

DCPD Adjusted Per Officer Costs ........................................................................................................ 20 

Police Nonfacilities Capital and General StartUp .................................................................................... 21 

Experience of Newly Established Police Departments ............................................................................... 22 

Facilities Costs ......................................................................................................................................... 23 

Total Departmental Costs: All Methods ...................................................................................................... 24 

Estimate of an Equivalent Department-Only Cost Estimate Based on the Share of DCPD 

Expenditures Method ......................................................................................................................... 25 

Revenues ..................................................................................................................................................... 26 



 

2 
 

State Court -Traffic Court ........................................................................................................................ 27 

Millage Rate Needed to Generate Additional Revenue to Support a Police Department ..................... 27 

Other Benefits of In-House Provision of Police Services ............................................................................ 28 

Conclusion ................................................................................................................................................... 29 

Appendix A: Calculations of Adjustments to DCPD Expenditures for Replacement Capital and General 

Fund Indirect Cost Allocation ...................................................................................................................... 30 

Appendix B. Budgeting for a Police Department ........................................................................................ 31 

  



 

3 
 

List of Tables 

Table 1. Range of Total Departmental Cost Estimates ................................................................................. 5 

Table 2. Stonecrest Traffic Court Net Impact ............................................................................................... 5 

Table 3. Mills Needed to Generate the Revenue to Support a Stonecrest Police Department ................... 6 

Table 4. Estimated Percentage of DCPD Resources Stonecrest Utilizes ..................................................... 13 

Table 5. Stonecrest Police Services Expenditure Estimates ........................................................................ 13 

Table 6. Stonecrest Basic Police Services Expenditure Estimates............................................................... 13 

Table 7. Service Call Reported Time Analysis ............................................................................................. 15 

Table 8. Service Call Analysis ...................................................................................................................... 15 

Table 9. Average Calls per Resident Analysis .............................................................................................. 15 

Table 10. Calculation of Estimate of Number of DCPD Officers Providing Basic Services .......................... 16 

Table 11. Officer Estimate based on Population Share of Full-Service DCPD Staffing ............................... 17 

Table 12. Officer Estimate based on Population Share of Basic Service DCPD Staffing ............................. 17 

Table 13. Officer Estimate based on Stonecrest's Resource Demands on DCPD's Uniform Division ......... 17 

Table 14. Officer Estimate based on Stonecrest's Resource Demands on DCPD's Uniform Division ......... 17 

Table 15. Low-end Cost Estimate ................................................................................................................ 19 

Table 16. High-end Cost Estimate ............................................................................................................... 19 

Table 17. DCPD Adjusted Per Officer Costs ................................................................................................ 20 

Table 18. Dunwoody Expenditures Per Officer and Employee ................................................................... 21 

Table 19. Brookhaven Expenditures Per Officer and Employee ................................................................. 21 

Table 20. Low-end Cost Estimate --58 Officers ........................................................................................... 21 

Table 21. High-end Cost Estimate --93 Officers .......................................................................................... 21 

Table 22. Estimation of Startup Capital Costs Per Officer .......................................................................... 23 

Table 23. Low- and High-Cost Startup Capital Cost Estimates .................................................................... 23 

Table 24. Low-end Estimate of Facility Costs .............................................................................................. 24 

Table 25. High-end Estimate of Facility Costs ............................................................................................. 24 

Table 26. Total Costs: Low-Cost Estimate--Built Budget Method ............................................................... 25 

Table 27. Total Costs: High-Cost Estimate--Built Budget Method .............................................................. 25 

Table 28. DCPD Share Method--Facility Costs ............................................................................................ 26 

Table 29. Total Cost Estimate for Adjusted DCPD Share Method............................................................... 26 

Table 30. Range of Total Departmental Cost Estimates ............................................................................. 26 

Table 31. Stonecrest Traffic Court Revenue ............................................................................................... 27 

Table 32. Stonecrest Traffic Court Net Impact ........................................................................................... 27 

Table 33. Additional Revenue Needed and Mills Needed to Generate the Revenue ................................ 28 

  



 

4 
 

Executive Summary 

In the spring of 2020, the City of Stonecrest engaged the University of Georgia’s Carl Vinson 

Institute of Government to explore the issues, challenges, and potential benefits and costs of the 

city providing police service in-house. These services are currently being provided by the 

DeKalb County Police Department (DCPD) through provisions set out in the DeKalb County 

Service Delivery Strategy Agreement and state legislation.  

Institute of Government researchers collected and analyzed data in order to estimate the 

following: 

• Number of sworn officers currently serving the city (by DeKalb County) and the number 

needed to serve the city if it were to establish its own police department (estimated 

using a population-based workload assessment and a time-on-task workload 

assessment)  

• Operational costs per officer and total departmental operational costs 

• Startup capital costs per officer and total department startup costs 

• Facilities needed and total facilities costs 

• Direct and implied City of Stonecrest contributions for police services currently being 

delivered by DeKalb County 

• Net revenue surplus that could be generated by the Stonecrest Municipal Court if a 

police force sends traffic violations cases to the Stonecrest Municipal Court as opposed 

to the DeKalb County Traffic Court 

Based on these data points and an analysis of the current workload of the DCPD in the 

Stonecrest service area, the research team estimated a range of costs for establishing a new 

police department.  

To derive a midrange cost estimate, the research team used weighted measures of the resources 

needed to address different types of police service calls as well as service call data and a 

detailed analysis of the DCPD expenditures by different service units (e.g., uniform, criminal 

investigations, and special operations).  

To produce low-end and high-end cost estimates, the research team used a “build-a-budget” 

approach based on estimates of the number of sworn officers Stonecrest would need as well as 

the annual cost per officer. The research team examined several staffing need estimates and 

combined these with three cost-per-officer estimates based on expenditure data on the DeKalb 

County, City of Brookhaven, and City of Dunwoody police departments. These base cost 

estimates were department-specific; that is, they did not include general fund administrative 

costs, startup cost, replacement capital costs, or facilities costs.  



 

5 
 

For the final estimates, the research team estimated startup costs, replacement capital costs, and 

facilities costs based on the low-end and high-end estimates of the number of needed officers 

for these scenarios. The team also estimated facilities costs. 

For the low-end cost estimate, the research team used the International Association of Chiefs of 

Police staffing method to estimate the number of officers needed to provide adequate response 

to service calls. This staffing estimate was combined with a cost per officer based on an adjusted 

cost per officer in the DCPD.  

For the high-end cost estimate, the number of officers needed was calculated based on the 

estimate of the percentage of the DCPD uninform division workload that was found to be 

attributed to responding to calls for service in the Stonecrest area. This staffing estimate was 

combined with a cost per officer in the Dunwoody Police Department.  

Table 1. Range of Total Annual Departmental Cost Estimates 

Low-End Cost Estimate $7,938,855  

Mid-Range Cost Estimate $11,459,145  

High-End Cost Estimate $15,400,874  

 

The research team also estimated the amount of net new revenue that a Stonecrest 

Municipal/Traffic Court could generate.   

Table 2. Stonecrest Traffic Court Net Revenue 

Estimated Revenue $872,837 

Estimated Expenses $557,219 

Net Revenue from Municipal Court $315,618 

 

Finally, Institute of Government researchers estimated the real property tax millage rate that 

would need to be levied to generate the additional revenue needed to support the range of 

service delivery options and costs. This analysis represents the impact on taxpayers of 

providing a municipal police force. Note that the city may choose to generate the needed 

revenue in any number of ways, so the millage rates identified are for illustration purposes 

only. For example, if the insurance premiums tax funds collected by the city are used to support 

police services, the property tax revenue needed would decrease accordingly. Given the total 

cost of a police department, however, the city would likely need to levy a property tax of some 

amount.  



 

6 
 

Table 3. Millage Rate Needed to Generate the Revenue to Support a Stonecrest Police 
Department 

 City Millage Rate Needed 

Low Cost Additional Revenue Need 4.92 

Middle Cost Additional Revenue Need 7.191 

High Cost Additional Revenue Need 9.735 

 

If the city chose to withdraw from the county special police services district, the special district 

millage rate of 4.775 would no longer be levied. The city could impose a property tax to fund 

the department. Keep in mind that in DeKalb County, although the county millage rate and a 

municipal millage rate operate in the same way, they can generate different amounts of revenue 

when levied on the same property. This is due to residential homestead tax exemptions that 

only apply to county property taxes. Thus, the municipal millage rates above would generate 

more revenue than equivalent county rates imposed in the same area. If the insurance 

premiums tax funds collected by the city are used to support police services, the property tax 

revenue needed would decrease accordingly. 

 

A Stonecrest police force may not be as large or provide the same specialized services and skills 

as the DCPD force currently servicing the city. Such a force would likely require more revenue 

than if the city goes with the low-cost service option.  

In recent years, new cities that have established their own municipal police departments in 

DeKalb County (e.g., Brookhaven and particularly Dunwoody) tend to spend more liberally on 

their respective forces than has DeKalb County. The higher cost-per-officer figures for these 

cities suggests they have recruited and hired more experienced officers to establish and 

maintain a high-quality police force. The entrance of the City of Stonecrest into the already tight 

market for experienced police officers would likely be a challenge.  

Finally, the report identifies a number of benefits of providing police services in-house.  

Background 

In the spring of 2020, the City of Stonecrest engaged with the University of Georgia’s Carl 

Vinson Institute of Government to explore the issues, challenges, and potential benefits and 

costs of the city providing police service in-house. This report explores current trends, 

standards, and best-practices associated with planning for and establishing a local government 

policing service provision. This research examines the characteristics of the policing services 



 

7 
 

currently provided by DeKalb County as well as the costs associated with establishing a police 

department within the jurisdiction of the City of Stonecrest. Specifically, this research involved 

• analyzing the nature of service arrangements with DeKalb County for law enforcement, 

• identifying an appropriate size for a City of Stonecrest police department based on an 

approximated level of service and current provision by DeKalb County Police 

Department (DCPD), and 

• calculating the costs associated with providing a police force of the size estimated. 

When the City of Stonecrest was incorporated in November 2016, it chose not to establish its 

own police department. Legislative provisions enable the city to have police services provided 

by the DeKalb County, specifically by the DCPD. These provisions (outlined in local legislation 

creating special service and tax districts within DeKalb County) set forth two types of police 

services: basic and non-basic.1 Basic services include the uniform division, traffic units, park 

patrol, and criminal and crime scene investigations. Non-basic services include SWAT, K-9, 

bomb squad, gang and drug task forces, and emergency management. Cities in DeKalb County 

can choose to receive basic, non-basic, or both types of services. Currently, the City of Stonecrest 

receives both basic and non-basic services from the DCPD.   

The DeKalb special district legislation also established special service districts for all the cities in 

DeKalb and for the unincorporated area and defined how a millage rate would be set in each 

special service district to pay for police services provided by DeKalb County. Finally, the special 

district legislation allows municipalities to decline any of the defined services and to have its 

millage rate adjusted in accordance.  

This report estimates the value of the current provision of police services by the DCPD and 

explores the costs associated with establishing a Stonecrest police department.  

Approach to the Study 

The Institute of Government research team used the following research methods to investigate 

current and ideal departmental organization and operations: 

• Stakeholder interviews with City of Stonecrest personnel, DeKalb County Police 

Department command staff, DeKalb County E911 personnel, and additional subject 

matter experts 

• Identification of the characteristics of comparable units of government to be used for 

benchmarking capital and operational needs for local government policing services 

                                                           
1 See House Bill 1508, adopted by the Georgia General Assembly in 2010. 



 

8 
 

• Standardized examples based on best practices and standards from the International 

City/County Management Association and International Association of Chiefs of Police 

• Reviews of professional and academic literature illustrating specific methods of 

calculating operational and capital needs associated with establishing local government–

based policing services 

Because each local government has a distinct culture, governing environment, and orientation 

of service and strategic priorities, no one-size-fits-all approach for planning, organizing, and 

developing services can be used.2 Therefore, this report identifies several best practices and 

principles that Stonecrest leaders can consider when making decisions regarding operational 

investment, organizational schematics, and operations for the establishment of policing 

services. Estimations of optimal department size and related costs are provided.  

PRELIMINARY CONSIDERATIONS 

Level of Service 

Currently, the City of Stonecrest receives both basic and non-basic police services from DeKalb 

County. Some of these non-basic services may not be necessary for the City of Stonecrest to 

deliver the style and level of police services desired by residents.   

Capital and Operational Expenditures  

With DeKalb County providing policing services, the City of Stonecrest is currently not 

financially responsible for managing human resources, risk management (liability), purchasing, 

fleet management, and other similar operational areas. Thus, these factors are included in the 

analysis. 

E911 Operations 

The research team assumed that if Stonecrest were to establish a municipal police force, the 

current operational interaction with the DeKalb County E911 center would continue. Based on 

discussions with the E911 director, an additional dedicated E911 operator would be needed. The 

Stonecrest police department would continue to have access to the recording system, computer-

aided dispatch system, radio network, E911 personnel, the Georgia Crime Information Center, 

and the other services provided by the DeKalb County E911 center. 

Risk Management 

The establishment of a Stonecrest police department would also entail some additional risk 

management services. The Institute research team considered the liability associated with the 

addition of employees responsible for carrying and using service weapons, the potential for 

these employees to become injured (workers’ compensation), the operation of city-owned motor 

                                                           
2 Gregory Streib. 2003. Applying decision-making in local government. In Douglas Watson and Wendy 

Hassett (Eds.), Local Government Management: Current Issues and Best Practices (pp. 322–333). Armonk, NY: 

American Society for Public Administration. 



 

9 
 

vehicles, legal actions associated with violation of rights, property damage, prisoner transfers, 

and accidents.  

Importance of Staffing Levels 

Objective methods of establishing, organizing, and managing policing operations are designed 

to maximize police efficiencies and effectiveness. The key is to match resources to needs so that 

the jurisdiction neither expends too little nor too much on police services. 

Because policing is a highly labor-intensive activity, the management of policing resources 

tends to focus on appropriate staffing levels. This analysis centers on the traditional method of 

policing that employs standard patrol units, response to calls, and the more commonly accepted 

measurements of performance. 

Note that other models of service provision such as problem-oriented policing or community 

policing may require different staffing levels. These policing models use different benchmarks 

to assess overall performance and can also vary with regard to needed capital expenditures, 

such as for vehicles and facilities. This study does not attempt to cost out policing services 

under these alternative models.  

Estimating the Costs of a Municipal Police Department 

The Institute of Government research team used two methods to estimate the cost of operating a 

police force in the City of Stonecrest: one based on a share of the DCPD workload, and another 

based on a cost per officer needed.  

The first method focuses on the share of DCPD resources that are consumed in the Stonecrest 

area. Specifically, the research team calculated current total expenditures being made by the 

DCPD in the Stonecrest area. The researchers used service call data to estimate the share of the 

DCPD workload in this area.  

The second method uses some of the same underlying service call data. Instead of directly 

allocating DCPD expenditures, for this method the research team first estimated the number of 

sworn officers needed in the Stonecrest service area and then calculated a cost per officer to 

arrive at a total cost estimate. Because this method begins with an estimate of the number of 

officers needed and then applies this officer count to a variety of cost-per-officer metrics, it 

requires a build-a-budget approach.   

Estimating the cost of establishing and operating a proposed Stonecrest Police Department 

using this approach involves the following steps: 

• Estimating the number of sworn officers needed to serve the city  



 

10 
 

o The Institute research team relied primarily on the workload method originally 

set forth by the International Association of Chiefs of Police. The key data needed 

for this method are E911 calls for law enforcement services. 

• Estimating the operational costs per officer and total department operational costs 

• Estimating startup capital costs per officer and total department startup costs 

• Estimating facilities needs per employee and total facilities costs 

METHOD 1: SHARE OF THE DCPD WORKLOAD AND COST  

DeKalb County 911 supplied nine months of geocoded service call data for this analysis. These 

data were then extrapolated to 12 months to arrive at an estimate of annual service call counts. 

DeKalb County also supplied the actual amount of time spent by patrol officers on service calls.  

Note that the workload approach is designed to identify the number of officers needed to 

provide patrol services only. For other staffing needs, such as for administration, criminal 

investigations, internal affairs, evidence management, training, and crime scene investigation, 

the Institute research team used a range of proportions of patrol staffing to estimate the number 

of support staff needed.   

Tasks and Assumptions of the Share of the DCPD Workload Method 

To identify the share of the DCPD workload that occurred in the Stonecrest area, Institute 

researchers examined both service requests and caseload data. (Note that a small percentage off 

these data did not include sufficient location information to allow for an allocation of the 

workload share to specific areas.)   

In preparation for the workload analysis, the research team  

• collected both service call and case/activity data from the DCPD/E911, 

• worked with the DCPD to identify an appropriate way to translate case/service call data 

into meaningful workload measures, 

• identified approximately 90 service call codes that tend to be associated with more 

serious incidents, and  

• had DCPD division managers rate each of these codes/call types for the amount of 

resources each would likely require. From this rating process the more serious calls were 

assigned weights for use in an assessment of the police service workload.  

Service Calls/Incidents and Resource Demands Analysis Assumptions 

When analyzing service calls and associated resource demands, Institute of Government 

researchers made the following assumptions:  

• The workload and resource demand on the Uniform Division generally reflect the 

distribution of service calls among the various service jurisdictions. 



 

11 
 

• The workload and resource demand on the Criminal Investigations Division and the 

Crime Scene and Intelligence Units generally reflect the distribution of more serious 

incidents or service calls. 

• The workload and resource demand on the special service units generally reflect the 

distribution of incidents. 

• Because the Uniform Division is responsible for investigation of property crimes, some 

portion of the workload and resource demands on this division are reflected in the 

distribution of more serious incidents or service calls. 

• The workload and resource demand on all other units of the DCPD (administration, 

support, training and recruiting, permits, and records) reflect the workload and resource 

demands placed on the direct services divisions, i.e., Uniform, CID, and special services 

units, in proportion to the expenditures made by these units.   

Identifying the Workload of the Criminal Investigations Division and Associated Units 

The allocation of the workload of criminal investigations is based on the distribution of the 

weighted serious service calls to the areas of interest. While the CID includes some special 

service units such as Narcotics, Gangs, and a K-9 unit, the geographical information about the 

location of these units’ services was not detailed enough to allow the research team to allocate 

specific services, events, or activities to specific jurisdictions, such as Stonecrest. Consequently, 

these activities are considered part of the overall workload of the CID and are allocated to 

Stonecrest based on the distribution of service calls weighted for their level of seriousness.    

Identifying the Workload of the Uniform Division 

Because the Uniform Division performs some criminal investigations, its workload would best 

be measured through a combination of the overall number of service call requests and the 

number of more serious calls for service, which would likely demand the services of a criminal 

investigator.3 The research team assumed that the workload weight for general service calls 

versus more serious service calls would generally track the distribution of general uniform 

officers to officers and staff assigned to criminal investigations. According to the DCPD, the 

Uniform Division has a total of 349 officers, 38 of which are detectives. These numbers do not 

include supervisors. The division has four investigative aides (one for each precinct 

investigative unit). Based on these figures, the criminal investigations workload represents 

approximately 12% of the total workload for the Uniform Division. Based on this estimate, the 

                                                           
3 The precincts investigate all robbery events, including pedestrian, residential, and commercial 

types. Precinct detectives also investigate all burglary events, commercial, residential or other. Precinct 

detectives are assigned a variety of additional cases. Precinct detectives are assigned entering auto, felony 

shoplifting, all elder abuse cases involving theft/fraud, felony theft, identity theft (suspect known or 

alleged), forgery/fraud, trailer theft, auto theft if the vehicle was taken by deception or conversion, vehicle 

thefts involving motors less than 49cc, located or found property, felony criminal damage, misdemeanor 

criminal damage if the suspect is known, and domestic events if property is damaged. 



 

12 
 

Institute research team established a weight of 7.3 for general service calls and a weight of 1 for 

more serious service calls.   

Identifying the Workload of the Special Units 

The Special Operations Division includes a Bomb Unit, an SO-K9 Unit, a SWAT Unit, and an 

Aerial Unit. DCPD data show the locations of the services, events, and activities of these units. 

To the degree possible, Institute of Government researchers geocoded these services, events, 

and activities and determined how many fell within the Stonecrest area, with a couple of 

adjustments necessary. First, because some of resources used by the Aerial Unit come from the 

general fund, these costs were added to the Aerial Unit expenditures and subtracted from the 

general fund reimbursement amount. Second, the Bomb Unit’s services were primarily 

provided to either the City of Atlanta (to sweep the Mercedes-Benz Stadium) or to DeKalb 

County in its general countywide governance capacity (to sweep the locations where the 

DeKalb Board of Commissioners met); thus, the research team decided to treat the Bomb Unit 

services as a general support service.  

Based on these assumptions, the research team allocated shares of the key police services 

expenditures to the Stonecrest service area under two conditions:  

1. The provision of the full set of services that the DCPD currently provides to the 

Stonecrest area 

2. The provision of a basic set of services that excludes the following service units: 4 Bomb, 

SWAT, Aerial within Special Operations, K-9, Aerial outside of Special Operations, and 

Homeland Security 

Estimate of Full-Service Stonecrest Police Service Expenditures 

Table 4 shows the shares of the DCPD police service units’ workload allocated to the Stonecrest 

area.5 

  

                                                           
4 Note that the division of the full set of services and that of a basic set of services outlined in this analysis 

differs in part from the delineation of basic and non-basic services set out in the special district 

legislation. This is the case for a couple of reasons: (1) the expenditure data available did not allow for a 

clear allocation of basic and non-basic, and( 2) some of the service units included in what at face value 

appears to be a non-basic service within the existing budget documents (e.g., certain traffic enforcement 

services and permit issuance) would likely be essential to a City of Stonecrest police department.   
5 Note that in this analysis, both the Bomb Unit and Homeland Security are included as part of the 

support expenditures for the direct police service units. As such, a share of these support expenditures is 

allocated to the direct service units in proportion to direct service unit expenditures.  



 

13 
 

Table 4. Estimated Percentage of DCPD Resources Stonecrest Utilizes 

Uniform Services SWAT K-9 Aerial 

Criminal 
Investigations, 
Crime Scene, 
Intelligence 

12.98% 3.64% 12.41% 13.57% 14.00% 

  

Table 5 presents expenditure estimates for the provision of police services in the Stonecrest area. 

These estimates were generated by applying the percentages in Table 4 to both the direct and 

indirect expenditures (according to the assumptions discussed above).  

Table 5. Stonecrest Police Services Expenditure Estimates 

Type of Expenditure Amount 

Criminal Investigations, Crime Scene, Intelligence $2,683,336 

Uniform Division $9,916,660 

Special Operation Units $579,686 

SWAT $99,596 

K-9 $185,447 

Aerial $294,643 

Grand Total $13,179,682 

 

Estimate of Basic Stonecrest Police Service Expenditures  

Table 6 shows that with a more limited set of services, Stonecrest would be able to operate a 

police department with expenditures of nearly $800,000 less than in the case of full-service 

police operations.  

Table 6. Stonecrest Basic Police Services Expenditure Estimates 

Type of Expenditure Amount 

Criminal Investigations, Crime Scene, Intelligence $2,643,134  

Uniform Division $9,768,088  

Total $12,411,222  

 

METHOD 2: BUILT BUDGETS: COST PER OFFICER METHODS 

The analysis in the previous section used DCPD expenditure data, which includes all costs 

(except facility costs), to estimate the full cost of operating a police department designed to 

service the City of Stonecrest. The analysis in this section takes a build-a-budget approach, 

starting with estimates of the number of police officers needed and applying various cost 

estimates per officer. Note that these estimates are for police operations only and do not include 



 

14 
 

general fund administrative costs and capital costs. The analysis encompasses costs estimates 

from other jurisdictions in DeKalb County as well as revisiting the DCPD expenditures after 

adjusting for administrative costs and capital costs.   

The following methods were used to estimate the number of police officers needed to serve the 

Stonecrest area:  

• Officer need estimate made by applying the International Association of Chiefs of Police 

(IACP) staffing methodology to service call data 

• Officer need based on Stonecrest’s share of the DCPD service area population applied to 

the DCPD’s full-service officer count 

• Officer need based on Stonecrest’s share of the DCPD service area population applied to 

the DCPD’s basic-service officer count 

• Officer need based on Stonecrest’s share of the DCPD Uniform Division’s resources 

applied to the DCPD’s full-service officer count 

• Officer need based on Stonecrest’s share of the DCPD Uniform Division’s resources 

applied to the DCPD’s basic-service officer count 

International Association of Chiefs of Police Staffing Methodology 

According to studies conducted by the IACP, one-third of an officer’s time should be spent 

handling calls for service, one-third on preventative patrol, and the final third on planning, 

reporting, investigation, administration, and court time needed to have an effective and efficient 

force. In addition to responding to calls for service, the methodology also accounts for the time 

required for arresting and booking suspects, with greater weight given to arrests for more 

serious crimes.  

According to the IACP, officers spend an average of 45 minutes (or .75 hours) per call. Based on 

the DeKalb County E911 data, the average officer time spent per call in the Stonecrest area was 

37 minutes, which is comparable to the 45-minute IACP average. Nevertheless, as with all 911 

call statistics, the accuracy of reported data and the actual time that officers spend responding 

to service calls or service needs is uncertain. Consequently, the Institute team used three 

approaches to address potential anomalies in the service call data: The analysis in Table 7 uses 

the reported time spent on calls in the Stonecrest area to estimate the need for officers. Table 8 

uses the IACP estimated average time on service calls and the reported number of service calls 

to estimate the need for officers. Table 9 uses the average reported service call need among 

Stonecrest residents (i.e., 1 call per capita) combined with the IACP estimated average time on 

service calls to estimate the need for officers.  

A total of 2,920 hours is required to staff one basic one-officer patrol unit for one year (8 hours a 

day × 365 days). Because no one works every day, a relief factor is used to account for days an 

officer would be unavailable due to things such as days off, sick days, vacation, training, and 



 

15 
 

court days. The analyses in Tables 7–9 use a relief factor of 1.84, which is based on a review of 

average police department personnel benefits conducted by the IACP. 

Finally, the estimates are adjusted to include law enforcement officers in supervisory roles as 

well as administrators, crime analysts, and criminal investigators.  

Table 7. Service Call Reported Time Analysis: Estimate Based on Reported Time Spent 
on Calls in the Stonecrest Area 

Annual Calls  38,989 

Time Spent on Calls in Hours 24,044 

Divided by 2,920 to Convert to Officers 8.23 

Multiplied by 3 to Account for Administration and Other Tasks 24.7 

Multiplied by 1.84 to Account for Days Off 45.5 

Inflated by 10% for Supervisors 50.0 

Inflated by 15% for Administration & Investigations 57.5 

 

Table 8. Service Call Analysis: Estimate Based on the Number of Calls × National 
Average of Time Spent per Call 

Annual Calls  38,989 

Estimated Time Spent on Service Calls in Hours  
@ 45 Minutes per Call 

29,242 

Divided by 2,920 to Convert to Officers 10.01 

Multiplied by 3 to Account for Administration and Other Tasks 30.0 

Multiplied by 1.84 to Account for Days Off, etc. 55.3 

Inflated by 10% for Supervisors 60.8 

Inflated by 15% for Administration & Investigations 69.9 

 

Table 9. Average Calls Per Resident Analysis 

  
Analysis Assuming 1 Call Per 

Resident with 50,190 Residents 

Estimated Annual Calls 50,190 

Multiplied by .75 of an Hour 37,643 

Multiplied by 3 to Account for 1/3 of Time Spent on Calls 112,928 

Divided by 2,920 to Convert to Officers 38.7 

Multiplied by 1.84 to Account for Days Off 71.2 

Inflated by 10% for Supervisors 78.3 

Inflated by 15% for Administration & Investigations 90.0 



 

16 
 

Officer Counts Based on Proportionate Share of DCPD Officers 

Full versus Basic Services  

This section reports officer need estimates based on the current count of DCPD officers. Also 

included is an estimate of the number of officers DCPD employs in providing a basic level of 

service, exclusive of some of the more specialized service units that the City of Stonecrest may 

choose not to include in a police services package.  

Table 10 shows the calculation used to sum expenditures made by specialized units of the 

DCPD. These expenditures, including related indirect costs, are excluded from the total DCPD 

expenditures, and the percentage of total expenditures represented by expenditures on basic 

services is applied to the DCPD officer count to derive an estimate of the number of officers 

employed in delivering basic police services.  

Table 10. Calculation of Estimate of Number of DCPD Officers Providing Basic Services 

Item  Amount 

Bomb $787,367.21  

SWAT $2,035,275.82  

Aerial within Special Operations $715,737.63  

K-9 $1,110,561.31  

Aerial Outside of Special Operations $897,584.02  

Homeland Security  $740,399.79  

Total Special Services  $6,286,925.78  

Special Services as % of Direct Services  0.082966063 

Total Direct Services  $75,777,077.59  

Total Indirect (Minus Admin GF Charge) $16,393,019.13  

Special Services Share of Indirect  $1,360,064.26  

Total Special Services Adjustment  $7,646,990.04  

Special Services as % of Direct Services  7.50% 

Estimated Officers Supplying Basic 
Services 

662.8 

 

Officer Count Estimates Based on Population 

Table 11 shows the sworn officer count for a Stonecrest police department offering the full set of 

services if the city employed police officers in proportion to its share of the DCPD service area 

population. Table 12 shows the same analysis if Stonecrest were to offer only basic police 

service. 

  



 

17 
 

Table 11. Officer Estimate Based on Population Share of Full-Service DCPD Staffing 

DCPD Officers 716.5 

Stonecrest Share of Population 10.46% 

Officer Estimate 75 

Table 12. Officer Estimate Based on Population Share of Basic Service DCPD Staffing 

DCPD Officers 662.8 

Stonecrest Share of Population 10.46% 

Officer Estimate 69 

 

Tables 13 and 14 show officer estimates based on resources currently expended in the Stonecrest 

area by DCPD. Table 13 shows estimates for a full-service department, and Table 14 shows the 

basic service scenario. 

Table 13. Officer Estimate Based on Stonecrest's Resource Demands on DCPD's Uniform 
Division (Full Service) 

DCPD Officers 716.5 

Stonecrest Share of Uniform Resources 12.98% 

Officer Estimate 93 

Table 14. Officer Estimate Based on Stonecrest's Resource Demands on DCPD's Uniform 
Division (Basic Service) 

DCPD Officers 662.8 

Stonecrest Share of Uniform Resources 12.98% 

Officer Estimate 86 

 

Assessing the Estimates 

The estimates of the number of officers needed in Stonecrest range from a low of 57.3 in the 

Table 7 analysis of actual time on service calls to a high of 93, based on Stonecrest’s current 

resource demand. Despite being far lower than many other estimates, the Table 7 figure does 

not necessarily represent an understaffed department as a department of this size appears to 

meet IACP staffing standards.   

Some of the higher staffing estimates are based on current DCPD practices and operations, 

reflecting staffing needs if the City of Stonecrest wants to maintain the same level and types of 

services that the area currently receives from the DCPD. Alternatively, Stonecrest could choose 



 

18 
 

not to provide some of the more specialized or non-basic services. Note that some of these 

specialized services (e.g., gangs and narcotics) cannot be entirely eliminated and a Stonecrest 

police force would likely need some officers who could provide some of these specialized 

services.   

Note that there is no one number of officers that represents the exact number needed. Rather, 

local contextual issues often dictate the number that a community will require. Figure 1 

presents contextual issues that have been cited as factors in staffing levels.  

Figure 1. Contextual Factors that May Affect Police Staffing Levels 

 
Source: A Performance-Based Approach to Police Staffing and Allocation, 2012. 

 

One key issue likely to affect police staffing needs is the level of patrol services and traffic 

control Stonecrest city leaders would like to see on I-20, which cuts across the city.  

Build-a-Budget Method: Police Operational Costs Per Officer – Including Operational 
Capital and General Fund Department Support 

To estimate police operational expenditures for the proposed City of Stonecrest police force, the 

Institute of Government team used DCPD expenditure data for fiscal year (FY) 2018. The 



 

19 
 

dataset reflects regionally specific costs and competitive salary conditions, and includes capital 

and administrative costs that have been annualized. In many local government budgets, capital 

costs are not annualized. Capital costs tend to be lumpy (and therefore not captured in either a 

single year or even in multiple years of municipal budgets), making them difficult to predict. 

Based on the DCPD expenditure data, the research team estimated that the cost per employed 

officer was approximately $142,321.73, which includes the cost of support staff, administration, 

equipment, vehicles, training, crime scene investigation capability, recruitment, and evidence 

management, as well as the specialized equipment used by the bomb, gang, aerial, SWAT, and 

narcotics units. It also includes the indirect charges to the department for services such as 

human resources, accounting, purchasing, finance, and the like that are provided by general 

fund departments.   

No jail costs are included in this analysis, as it was assumed that a new city would not maintain 

its own jail and would enjoy a similar arrangement with the DeKalb County Sheriff as do other 

cities in the county. Municipal prisoners would only be those awaiting adjudication or serving a 

sentence imposed by the city’s municipal court.  

Tables 15 and 16 present the low- and high-end estimates for a Stonecrest Police Department, 

respectively, based on the range of needed officer staffing.   

Table 15. Low-End Cost Estimate 

Estimate of Number of Officers Needed 58 

Cost Per Sworn Officer  $142,322  

Estimated Annual Operational Cost $8,254,676  

 

Table 16. High-End Cost Estimate 

Estimate of Number of Officers Needed 93 

Cost Per Sworn Officer  $142,322  

Estimated Annual Operational Cost $13,235,946  

 

Build-a-Budget Method: Police Operational Costs Per Officer   
(Excluding Operational Capital and General Fund Department Support) 

Municipal police department budgets do not always incorporate operational capital costs or the 

indirect expenditures by administrative departments that support direct police services. This 

stripped-down approach to departmental budgeting can help leaders decide whether a city can 

afford a police department. For example, if the city already has the capacity to provide general 

fund administrative support to a newly established police department, any estimate that 

includes these costs would be an overestimate. Similarly, where a special-purpose local-option 



 

20 
 

sales tax (SPLOST) can be used to supply operational capital (in lieu of allocated funds in the 

operations budget for this capital), any inclusion of these capital costs would also represent an 

overestimate of the true cost of establishing a new police department.   

To create a stripped-down cost estimate for Stonecrest, the Institute research team conducted a 

three-part analysis that combines the officer need estimates with three different per-officer cost 

estimates: one based on DCPD data and the other two based on costs for two cities in DeKalb 

County that have recently established their own police departments.  

The first of these per officer cost estimates was derived from detailed adjustments to the DCPD 

expenditure data. Specifically, the research team calculated the percentage of the total budget 

that represented indirect support expenditures and operational capital expenditures. The 

calculations for these operations can be found in Appendix A. The other two per officer cost 

estimates were based on examination of the budget documents for the cities of Dunwoody and 

Brookhaven. The research team also communicated with the finance directors of these cities to 

confirm that capital costs and indirect charges to other general fund support departments were 

not part of the police departments’ budgets.   

By having three cost-per-officer figures, City of Stonecrest decision makers can better 

understand the underlying wage competition that drives these costs.6 Obviously, the city can 

staff a new police department in any number of ways with regard to officer experience, 

education, and skill level. More experience, of course, costs more.   

DCPD Adjusted Per Officer Costs 

Table 17. DCPD Adjusted Per Officer Costs 

Nonadjusted Expenditures Per Officer  $142,322  

Adjustment for Indirect Cost Allocation  $13,591  

Adjustment for Replacement Capital  $8,834  

Adjusted Expenditures Per Officer  $119,897  

 

  

                                                           
6 The research team examined the salary range for a basic patrol officer for several police departments in 

the Stonecrest area market. These are presented in Appendix B. These data do not show substantial 

differences in the starting salaries of beginning patrol officers. However, the per-officer cost differences 

identified above suggest that the City of Dunwoody is likely competing on quality and experience rather 

than hiring new police academy candidates.   



 

21 
 

Table 18. Dunwoody Expenditures Per Officer and Per Employee 

Sworn Officers  64 

Nonsworn Staff 14 

2019 Amended Expenditures  $9,511,756 

Cost per Employee $121,946 

Cost per Sworn Officer  $148,621 

 

Table 19. Brookhaven Expenditures Per Officer and Per Employee 

Sworn Officers  74 

Nonsworn Staff 14 

2019 Adopted Expenditures  $8,985,585 

Cost per Employee $102,109 

Cost per Sworn Officer  $121,427 

 

Based on these per-officer cost estimates, Tables 20 and 21 show, respectively, how the low-end 

and high-end officer need estimates translate into total departmental operations costs for the 

three jurisdictions.  

Table 20. Low-End Cost Estimate – 58 Officers 

Cost Basis  
DeKalb County 

Police 
Dunwoody 

Police 
Brookhaven 

Police 

Cost Per Sworn Officer  $119,897 $148,621 $121,427 

Estimated Annual Operational 
Cost 

$6,954,026 $8,620,018 $7,042,766  

Table 21. High-End Cost Estimate – 93 Officers 

Cost Basis  
DeKalb County 

Police 
Dunwoody 

Police 
Brookhaven 

Police 

Cost Per Sworn Officer  $119,897  $148,621 $121,427 

Estimated Annual Operational 
Cost 

$11,150,421 $13,821,753  $11,292,711  

 

POLICE NONFACILITIES CAPITAL AND GENERAL STARTUP 

If Stonecrest were to establish its own police force, it would need to equip the officers (vehicles, 

uniforms, firearms) and would incur some general startup costs for furniture, software, and 

miscellaneous equipment. Because the DCPD expenditure data used in the analysis in the Share 



 

22 
 

of DCPD Workload Method section of this report include nonfacility capital replacement costs, 

there would seem to be no need for a separate accounting of these costs.  

While DeKalb County incorporates replacement capital into its operational budget, not all local 

governments do so. Documenting capital costs separately can be helpful when creating a 

budget, so the Institute research team explored two ways of doing so: (1) extracting capital costs 

from the DCPD expenditure data and (2) using the historical experience of two newly 

established police departments.   

The calculation of per-officer replacement capital was addressed earlier in this report (and is 

calculated in Appendix A). While this calculation is useful, it may not include all the capital that 

a department needs when starting up, particularly capital for information technology and 

communications. While this method can provide a fair estimate of the ordinary capital costs for 

a patrol officer, it does not account for all items used by the more specialized police units such 

as crime scene investigations, evidence management, bomb units, and the like. Moreover, when 

establishing a new police department, the cost for capital may have a lifespan of five years and 

so would likely need to be financed. If so, the city would incur additional costs for interest on 

this debt.  

To more thoroughly address the issues of startup capital, the research team examined the 

experience of newly established police departments.   

Experience of Newly Established Police Departments 

Although establishing a new police department is relatively rare, two cities in DeKalb County—

Dunwoody and Brookhaven—have done so in the last 11 years. Table 22 shows the capital costs 

for police in these cities during their first year of operations. These costs for equipping a police 

officer include expenses such as a vehicle, furniture, radio, firearm, and other similar needs. The 

startup capital investment for a police department is calculated based on the average cost per 

officer. Because Dunwoody started its police department in 2009 and Brookhaven in 2013, the 

Institute researchers used the US Bureau of Labor Statistics Consumer Price Index to adjust 

these cities’ expenditures to 2019 dollars. The per-officer costs for these two cities were then 

averaged and applied against the estimate of the number of officers needed for Stonecrest based 

on the workload analysis in the previous section to arrive at a total officer police capital cost 

estimate.  

Police capital costs and general startup costs figured per capita for the study area were added 

together and assumed to be financed over five years on similar terms to those used by 

Dunwoody to finance these same expenses.  

  



 

23 
 

Table 22. Estimation of Startup Capital Costs Per Officer 

City and Fiscal Year Budget Budget Cost Per Officer 

Dunwoody – FY 2009 Police Start-up $2,674,000 $66,850 

Dunwoody Inflation Adjusted Cost Per Officer $81,361  

Brookhaven – FYs 2013 & 2014 Police 
Start-up 

$2,821,824 $49,506  

Brookhaven Inflation Adjusted Cost per Officer $55,245  

Average Startup Capital Costs Per Office (inflation adjusted to Dec. 2019) $68,303  

Table 23. Low-End and High-End Startup Capital Cost Estimates7  

 Low Cost High Cost 

Number of Officers Estimated for Study 
Area  

58 93 

Study Area Expenditure Estimate $3,961,574  $6,352,179  

Amortized over 5 Years at 2.26% 
Interest Rate 

$838,669  $1,344,761  

 

FACILITIES COSTS 

To estimate the cost of a police department facility, the Institute research team first determined 

the amount of square footage needed per officer and other employees. The researchers assumed 

that the proposed department would employ additional nonsworn staff to support the work of 

the department and that these nonsworn employees would represent approximately 20% of the 

sworn officers employed.  

Local governments typically allocate between 125 and 225 square feet per employee. Police 

departments tend to be on the lower end of this estimate because officers work in shifts and 

most spend at least part of their shifts in vehicles. However, police departments must have 

meeting space and evidence and records storage as well as interview rooms. Thus, the Institute 

research team used 150 square feet per employee as the basis for facility cost estimates.  

                                                           
7 The City of Dunwoody had 40 officers in 2009 per the city’s FYs 2009 and 2010 comprehensive annual 

financial reports (CAFRs). Source for budget: Dunwoody financial reports and confirmed with the city’s 

Finance Office. The City of Brookhaven had 57 officers in 2013 per the city’s FY 2015 CAFR. Source for 

budget: Brookhaven FY 2016 budget. Capital expenses for FYs 2013 and 2014 are summed because of the 

significant capital expenditures in 2014, reflecting a continued investment in startup costs. This interest 

rate was quoted by the Georgia Municipal Association’s Financing Unit 2.26% with standard disclaimer 

on February 6, 2020. 

 

 



 

24 
 

A survey of the asking rent for lease space in the study area showed a range, with many 

available office buildings running between $12 and $20 per square foot per year and a median 

of $13 to $15. Tables 14 and 15 show facilities cost estimates using a $14 per square foot yearly 

rental cost. Note that the City of Stonecrest may already have a facility that could be used by a 

police department, or it may choose to build such a facility rather than lease one. However, the 

estimated lease cost is still useful as it shows the opportunity cost that the government would 

incur if it were to already have a facility, that is, the uncollected rent value of not leasing out (or 

selling) such a facility. Similarly, while the government may eventually build its own facility, 

such an option is typically not possible during the first few years of operation of a new 

department. During this time, the government would likely need to rent. Finally, lease costs 

tend to be fairly closely related to the cost of ownership, so they represent a simplified and 

easily annualized cost measure that can be easily integrated with the other annualized 

expenditures estimated in the analyses.  

Table 24. Low-End Estimate of Facility Costs 

Estimated Sworn Officers 58 

Estimated Nonsworn 11.6 

Total Staff 69.6 

Square Feet Per Employee 150 

Annual Cost Per Square Foot $14.00 

Estimated Annual Cost for Facility $146,160 

Table 25. High-End Estimate of Facility Costs 

Estimated Sworn Officers 93 

Estimated Nonsworn 18.6 

Total Staff 111.6 

Square Feet Per Employee 150 

Annual Cost Per Square Foot $14.00 

Estimated Annual Cost for Facility $234,360 

Total Departmental Costs: All Methods 

Tables 26 and 27 present total departmental cost estimates based on a minimum of 58 officers 

and a maximum of 93 officers. For comparison purposes, the research team also adjusted the 

cost estimate derived from the share of DCPD workload (exclusive of general fund indirect 

costs, but including DCPD’s replacement capital) method to provide an estimate using this 

method that is equivalent to the ‘build a budget’ methods. In this analysis, the research team 

used the basic services (rather than full services) estimated cost. 



 

25 
 

The low-cost estimate is based on the operational DCPD cost per officer, exclusive of capital and 

general fund administrative costs. The high-cost estimate is based on the Dunwoody Police 

Department’s cost per officer.   

Table 26. Total Costs: Low-End Cost Estimate – Build-a-Budget Method 

Operational Cost Estimate (58 Officers) $6,954,026  

Estimated Annual Cost for Facility $146,160 

Annualized Start-up Capital  $838,669 

Total Estimated Cost  $7,938,855  

 

Table 27. Total Costs: High-End Cost Estimate – Build-a-Budget Method 

Operational Cost Estimate (93 Officers)  $13,821,753  

Estimated Annual Cost for Facility $234,360 

Annualized Startup Capital  $1,344,761  

Total Estimated Cost  $15,400,874  

 

Estimate of an Equivalent Department-Only Cost Estimate Based on the Share of DCPD 
Expenditures Method 

To derive an equivalent department-only cost estimate using the Share of DCPD Expenditures 

Method, the Institute research team had to make two adjustments: (1) an adjustment for the fact 

that this method uses expenditure data that include indirect costs for the services of general 

fund departments such as human resources (HR), finance, purchasing, risk management, and 

the like, and (2) an adjustment for the fact that the data used for this method do not include 

facilities costs as these facilities are already built.  

Adjustment of General Fund Administrative Costs  

An analysis of the DCPD expenditure data found that about 9.55% of total DCPD expenditures 

were made in support the of general fund indirect administrative costs. This translates to 

approximately $13,591 per officer. Based on an officer estimation of 86 (assuming a basic level of 

service and the workload analysis proportion of the Uniform Division’s resources, see Table 14 

for details), the Institute research team calculated an adjustment of general fund administrative 

costs of $1,168,826.  

Adjustment for Facilities Cost 

Using the same assumption about the number of officers, the facility cost estimate calculation is 

presented in Table 28.  

  



 

26 
 

Table 28. DCPD Share Method – Facility Costs 

Estimated Sworn 86 

Estimated Nonsworn 17.2 

Total Staff 103.2 

Square Feet Per Employee 150 

Annual Cost Per Square Foot $14.00 

Estimated Annual Cost for Facility $216,720 

 

Finally, Table 29 presents a total estimate for department-only, basic service level cost using the 

DCPD share of resources method can be calculated as shown in.  

Table 29. Total Cost Estimate for Adjusted DCPD Share Method 

Cost of Service Inclusive of GF Admin. Costs  $12,411,223  

Adjustment for GF Indirect Cost Allocation  ($1,168,798) 

Subtotal $11,242,425  

Annual Facility Cost $216,720 

Total Estimated Cost  $11,459,145  

 

Because the total cost estimate for the adjusted DCPD share method is in between the low- and 

high-cost estimate, it is referred to as the mid-range estimate.  

Table 30. Range of Annual Total Departmental Cost Estimates 

Low-End Cost Estimate $7,938,855  

Mid-Range Cost Estimate $11,459,145  

High-End Cost Estimate $15,400,874  

Revenues 

The City of Stonecrest collects revenue from a variety of sources, most of which could 

potentially be used to support a new police department. However, given that these revenue 

sources are already being spent for services other than police, the city would likely need to 

collect additional revenue to support a police department. While Stonecrest could choose to 

raise revenue needed for a police department from any variety of taxes, fees, charges, and 

permits, for the purposes of this study, the research team focused on two potential revenue 

sources: traffic court fines and property taxes. The city may be able to collect some revenue 

through police-specific charges and fees (e.g., for background checks, fingerprinting, etc.), but 



 

27 
 

these revenue sources generally collect only small amounts of money and depend on 

ordinances that the city has not yet passed.  

STATE COURT -TRAFFIC COURT  

A local government’s revenue collection for traffic citations is directly tied to police enforcement 

of traffic laws. The workload of DeKalb County’s Traffic Court is linked to the number of 

moving violations tickets that county police issue. Because the exact location of every ticket is 

unknown (and therefore associated revenues and expenditures), the research team looked at 

percentages based on population. The City of Stonecrest represents 10.46% of the county’s 

population and thus 10.46% of the DCPD workload or 10.46% of revenue currently collected by 

DeKalb County Traffic Court (see Table 31).8 If Stonecrest were to provide its own police 

services, then an estimated $872,837 in traffic court revenue would likely follow. These 

revenues, for the purposes of this study, are assumed to be collected by a City of Stonecrest 

traffic or municipal court.  

Table 31. Stonecrest Traffic Court Revenue 

Revenue DeKalb  Stonecrest 

Traffic Court Revenue $8,348,081 $872,837 

 

Using a similar method to calculate expenses, based on population, the annual cost of operating 

a traffic court would be approximately $557,219. Thus, if Stonecrest were to provide its own 

police services and municipal court, the city would see an estimated net revenue gain of 

$315,618 from traffic court.9  

Table 32. Stonecrest Traffic Court Estimated Net Revenue 

 Estimated Dollars 

Revenue  $872,837 

Operating Expense $557,219 

Traffic Court Net Revenue $315,618 

 

MILLAGE RATE NEEDED TO GENERATE ADDITIONAL REVENUE TO SUPPORT A 
POLICE DEPARTMENT 

To determine the amount of additional revenue that would be needed to finance a police 

department with low-end, high-end, and mid-range cost estimates, the research team first 

subtracted the anticipated net revenue from a City of Stonecrest traffic court (Table 32) from the 

                                                           
8 50,189 / 480,023 = 10.46%. Includes the entire unincorporated area plus the cities of Tucker and 

Stonecrest. 

 



 

28 
 

cost estimates of each of these scenarios. Table 33 shows the additional revenue needed and the 

respective millage rates for each estimate.  

Table 33. Additional Revenue Needed and Millage Rate Needed to Generate the Revenue 

  
Amount Needed To be Generated by a 

Property Tax Mills Needed 

Low Cost Additional Revenue Need $7,623,237 4.92 

Middle Cost Additional Revenue Need $11,143,527 7.191 

High Cost Additional Revenue Need $15,085,256 9.735 

*Based on the 2019 City of Stonecrest Net M&O Digest on file with the Georgia Department of Revenue. 

It is worthy of note that the City of Stonecrest began collecting insurance premiums taxes in 

2019; prior to 2019, those funds had been used by DeKalb County to support police services in 

the city. According to the 2019 city budget, this amount or revenue was approximately 

$3,820,000. Were the city to appropriate these funds toward police services, it could help reduce 

the property tax millage needed to fund police services. 

Other Benefits of In-House Provision of Police Services 

Cities that provide and operate their own police departments can potentially capture the 

following additional benefits:  

• The ability to strategically control and program police activities. Be it community 

policing, hot spot crime containment, or enhanced traffic enforcement, cities that have 

their own police departments can typically respond rapidly to community demand for a 

particular style of law enforcement services. While the same level of control and style of 

programming can be obtained through a service contract with another government or 

agency, the city would typically need to have skills in contract development, 

management, and monitoring and enforcement of the contract terms. In most cases, 

these skills are rarer than basic organizational management skills.  

• The ability to set priorities and manage response times. Cities that operate their own 

departments can more easily set operational policies such as demanding faster response 

times to certain types of calls for service.  

• The ability to manage human resources. Cities providing their own services can set HR 

policies that more closely fit the needs and desires of the community. For example, they 

can demand a more educated police force and require particular types of training such 

as in the use of nonlethal conflict management techniques. Similarly, the city can work 

towards having a police force that is representative of the community demographics.  



 

29 
 

• The ability to more efficiently benefit from fixed costs and use slack resources. For 

many cities, indirect service costs for such things as purchasing, finance, payroll, and HR 

tend to be provisioned in a set amount of staffing for even a relatively small workload. 

For example, it may be necessary to employ a full-time payroll clerk in a city that has 100 

employees. However, if this clerk could actually support payroll services for up to 175 

employees, there are economies of scale to be captured by having a larger number of 

employees. In this case, a city would become more efficient in using indirect service 

resources by providing for an in-house police department. Similarly, if the city has 

unused space in a facility that cannot be rented out, having an in-house police force 

could potentially make effective use of this currently idle resource.  

• The ability to make synergetic use of resources through organizational development. 

Some local governments have been able to achieve significant economies through 

innovative service delivery. For example, some communities have created public safety 

departments that provide for multiple services such as fire, police, and emergency 

medical services. Such organizational efficiencies can only be captured if the 

government is directly providing these services, particularly police services.  

Conclusion 

The City of Stonecrest can establish and maintain a police department for an annual cost 

somewhere between the low-end and mid-range estimates provided in this analysis. Such a 

police force, however, will not be as large or provide the same specialized services and skills as 

the DCPD, which currently services the Stonecrest area. To establish and maintain such a force 

will likely require additional funds.  

The new cities in DeKalb County that have that have established their own municipal policies 

forces (e.g., Brookhaven and particularly Dunwoody) have tended to spend more liberally than 

has DeKalb County on their respective forces. The higher cost-per-officer figures for these 

municipal police departments suggest these cities have recruited and hired more experienced 

officers to establish and maintain a higher quality police force. The entrance of the City of 

Stonecrest into the already tight market for high-quality police officers could be challenging.   

Nevertheless, most cities in DeKalb County have chosen to provide these services in house, 

most likely for reason outlined in the previous section of this report. It may, therefore, make 

sense for Stonecrest to seek inclusion in the county non-basic police services special district. 

This option has been used by several other cities in DeKalb that wish to maintain access to 

DCPD specialized services. 

  



 

30 
 

Appendix A: Calculations of Adjustments to DCPD Expenditures 

for Replacement Capital and General Fund Indirect Cost 

Allocation 

To calculate a per officer adjustment to the per officer cost estimate for the purposes of 

excluding replacement capital costs that are included in the DCPD budget, the research team 

examined the expenditures for capital item in the two largest DCPD divisions—Uniform and 

Criminal Investigations. Because replacement capital costs varied between these two a 

standardized per officer cost was calculated that took the proportional size of these two 

divisions into account.   

Calculation of Replacement Capital Cost Adjustment 

 Uniform Division CID 

551105 – Vehicle Replacement Charge $3,004,560 $457,884 

531101 – Operating Supplies $88,579 $1,539 

531107 – Uniforms & Clothing $575,550 $27,932 

531601 – Tools & Small Equipment $305,045  
Officers  426 79 

Total Capital Cost  $3,973,734 $487,355 

Generic Total  $4,461,089 

Standardized Per Officer $8,833.84 

 

Per Officer Calculation of Adjustment for General Fund Indirect Cost Allocation 

Admin Charges GF $9,737,721  

DCPD Officers  716.5 

Admin Charges GF per Officer  $13,590.68  

 

 

  



 

31 
 

Appendix B. Budgeting for a Police Department 

Base Salaries for Patrol Officers in Stonecrest Market Area 

Cities 

Year Jurisdiction Population Job Title 
Starting 
Salary 

Maximum 
Salary 

Pay 
Basis 

Scheduled 
Hours 

Full-Time 
Employees 

2018 Clarkston 12,742 Patrol 
Officer, 
Police 

Department 

19.00 25.00 Hourly 42 13 

2018 Decatur 22,813 Patrol 
Officer, 
Police 

Department 

20.93 34.31 Hourly 40 26 

2018 Dunwoody 48,884 Patrol 
Officer, 
Police 

Department 

19.78 29.67 Hourly 42 34 

2018 Brookhaven 52,444 Patrol 
Officer, 
Police 

Department 

20.39 32.62 Hourly 40 45 

2018 Douglasville 33,252 Patrol 
Officer, 
Police 

Department 

17.60 28.17 Hourly 40 42 

2018 Conyers 15,919 Patrol 
Officer, 
Police 

Department 

37,065.60 
(17.82) 

41,975.28 Annual 40 28 

 

 

Counties 

Year Jurisdiction Population Job Title 
Starting 
Salary 

Maximum 
Salary 

Pay 
Basis 

Scheduled 
Hours 

Full-Time 
Employees 

2018 DeKalb 753,253 Patrol Officer, 
Police 

Department 

19.68 30.51 Hourly 40 50 

2018 Henry 225,813 Patrol Officer, 
Police 

Department 

17.56 26.34 Hourly 40 124 

 
 



 
 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
 

SUBJECT:  Ordinance for Special Land Use Permit   
 SLUP-20-003 (7101 Covington Hwy) 

  
(X)  ORDINANCE     (   )  POLICY            (   )  STATUS REPORT 
 
(   )  DISCUSSION ONLY    (   )   RESOLUTION    (   )   OTHER  
 
Date Submitted: 9/22/20         Work Section:             Council Meeting: 9/28/20 
 

 
SUBMITTED BY:  Christopher Wheeler, Planning and Zoning Director   
 
PURPOSE:  Obtain Special Land Use Permits for construction of 6,000 square foot 
convenience store with accessory fuel pumps and drive thru per Sec. 4.2.23 and 4.2.28 
 
HISTORY:  The subject property sits along Covington Hwy and has been partially been 
developed. 
 
FACTS AND ISSUES:  This application was heard at the September 16th, 2020 Planning 
Commission Meeting. The applicant requested to a special land use permits to construct a 
6,000 square foot convenience store with the accessory fuel pump and drive thru.  
Planning Commission recommend approval of the application, with conditions. 
 
OPTIONS:  Approve; Deny; or make Alternative conditions 
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION:  
Planning Commission recommended approval of petition SLUP-20-003 at the September 
16th, 2020 meeting with conditions.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
# 1 9/22/20 Staff Report   
# 2  9/22/20 Power Point Presentation 



# 3     9/22/20 Supplemental Information  











LETTER OF INTENT AND IMPACT ANALYSIS 

 

City of Stonecrest 

 

Special Land Use Permit Application 

For Fuel Pumps  

  

Applicant: 

RS Covington Developments, LLC 

 
 

Property: 

7101 Covington Highway 
 

 

Parcel ID No: 

16 104 04 002  

  

  

Submitted for Applicant by: 

 

Julie L. Sellers 

DILLARD SELLERS 

1776 Peachtree Street NW, Suite 390N 

Atlanta, Georgia, 30309 

(404) 665-1242 

jsellers@dillardsellers.com 

  

  



 

Introduction 

 

Applicant, RS Covington Developments, LLC, requests approval of a Special Land Use 

Permit for the property located at 7101 Covington Highway, Stonecrest, Georgia (tax parcel no. 

16 104 04 002) (the “Property”).  The Property is approximately +/- 1.56 acres of land located at 

the corner of Covington Highway and Lithonia West Drive. The Property is zoned C-2, General 

Commercial.  

The Applicant plans to develop a one-story building for use as a convenience store with 

fuel pumps and a restaurant with a drive-thru facility on the Property. The architecture of the 

building and development of this vacant parcel will positively contribute to this area once 

envisioned as the Lithonia West Industrial Park.  As shown on the attached site plans, the 

building will include both a convenience store and a restaurant use with a drive-thru.  There are 

two access points into the Property providing safe and convenient vehicular access.  This new 

development will also add landscaping and improved streetscaping.  The proposed development 

is consistent with the current C-2 zoning district.  

The City’s Zoning Code allows fuel pumps without the requirement of a Special Land 

Use Permit if certain criteria can be met as set forth in Section 4.2.28(D).  As such, the Applicant 

is entitled to use the Property for a convenience store and fuel pumps with a new building at least 

5,000 square feet.  Here, the convenience store portion of the building proposed is ~4,000 sq. ft. 

and the restaurant ~ 2,008 sq. ft.  Applicant is proposing a building that while exceeding the 

5,000 square foot minimum would include both the convenient store and a restaurant.  As such, 

this application requests approval of the fuel pumps as an accessory to the ~ 4,000 sq. ft. 

convenience store.  A separate application is being submitted for the drive-thru.  

The new development with accessory fuel pumps will operate in accordance with all 

provisions of the City’s Zoning Code Sec. 4.2.28. The proposed use is consistent with the City’s 

Future Land Use Map, which designates the Property as Urban Neighborhood. The surrounding 

area is characterized as a combination of commercial, residential and light industrial uses. 

Additionally, the proposed use is consisted with the adjacent general commercial properties and 

local commercial uses along Covington Highway.    

 

As set forth below, the Applicant satisfies the City’s requirements for a special land use 

permit for accessory fuel pumps. For these reasons, the Applicant respectfully requests its 

application be granted as submitted.  

  

Documented Impact Analysis 

 

The Applicant’s application satisfies the applicable criteria set forth in sections 7.4 and 4.2.28 

of the City of Stonecrest’s Zoning Code.   

 

A. Adequacy of the size of the site for the use contemplated and whether or not 

adequate land area is available for the proposed use including provision of all 

required yards, open space, off-street parking, and all other applicable 

requirements of the zoning district in which the use is proposed to be located:  



 

The size of the site is adequate for the contemplated use. All required yards, open space, 

off-street parking, and all other applicable requirements required by the C-2 zoning 

district are satisfied. The proposed development is an approximate +/- 1.56 acre site with 

all requirements being met.  

 

B. Compatibility of the proposed use with adjacent properties and land uses and with 

other properties and land uses in the district: 

 

The accessory fuel pumps are compatible with the surrounding area and land use within 

the district.  

 

C.  Adequacy of public services, public facilities, and utilities to serve the use 

contemplated: 

 

Adequate public services, facilities, and utilities exist to serve the accessory fuel pumps.  

 

D. Adequacy of the public street on which the use is proposed to be located and 

whether or not there is sufficient traffic-carrying capacity for the use proposed so as 

not to unduly increase traffic and create congestion in the area: 

 

Covington Highway is a minor arterial road. There is sufficient capacity to support a 

convenience store with accessory fuel pumps, and there will be little impact on the public 

streets or traffic in the area.  

 

E. Whether or not existing land uses located along access routes to the site will be 

adversely affected by the character of the vehicles or the volume of traffic generated 

by the proposed use: 

 

No, traffic generated by the accessory fuel pumps will not adversely impact existing land 

uses along access routes to the site.  

 

F. Adequacy of Ingress and egress to the subject property and to all proposed 

buildings, structures, and uses thereon, with particular reference to pedestrian and 

automotive safety and convenience, traffic flow and control, and access in the event 

of fire or other emergency: 

 

There is adequate ingress and egress to the subject property. Fire and other emergency 

vehicles will be able to access the property if there is an emergency.  

 

G. Whether or not the proposed use will create adverse impacts upon any adjoining 

land use by reason of noise, smoke, odor, dust, or vibration generated by the 

proposed use:  

 

No, the accessory fuel pumps will not create adverse impacts upon any adjoining land use 

by reason of noise, smoke, odor, dust or vibration.  



 

H. Whether or not the proposed use will create adverse impacts upon any adjoining 

land use by reason of the hours of operation of the proposed use:  

 

No, the accessory fuel pumps will not create adverse impacts upon any adjoining land use 

by reason of hours of operation.  

 

I. Whether or not the proposed use will create adverse impacts upon any adjoining 

land use by reason of the manner of operation of the proposed use:  

 

No, the accessory fuel pumps will not create adverse impacts upon any adjoining land use 

by reason of the manner of operation.  

 

J. Whether or not the proposed plan is otherwise consistent with the requirements of 

the zoning district classification in which the use is proposed to be located: 

 

Yes, the accessory fuel pumps are consistent with the requirements of the C-2 Zoning 

Classification.  

 

K. Whether or not the proposed use is consistent with the policies of the comprehensive 

plan; 

 

Yes, the accessory fuel pumps are consistent with the policies of the City’s 

comprehensive plan.  

 

L. Whether or not the proposed plan provides for all required buffer zones and 

transitional buffer zones where required by the regulations of the district in which 

the use is proposed to be located: 

 

Yes, the site plan includes all required buffer zones and transitional buffer zones.  

 

M. Whether or not there is adequate provision of refuse and service areas: 

 

Yes, there will be adequate provision of refuse and service areas.  

 

N. Whether the length of time for which the special land use permit is granted should 

be limited in duration: 

 

No, the length of time for the SLUP should not be limited in duration.  

 

O. Whether or not the size, scale and massing of proposed buildings are appropriate in 

relation to the size of the subject property and in relation to the size, scale and 

massing of adjacent and nearby lots and buildings: 

 



The size, scale, and massing of the proposed convenience store and accessory fuel pumps 

are appropriate in relation to the size of the subject property and in relation to the size, 

scale and massing of adjacent and nearby lots and buildings.  

 

P. Whether the proposed plan will adversely affect historic buildings, sites, districts, or 

archaeological resources: 

 

No, there are no known historic buildings, sites, districts, or archaeological resources at 

the Property. 

 

Q. Whether the proposed use satisfies the requirements contained within the 

supplemental regulations for such special land use permit:  

 

Yes, the accessory fuel pumps will satisfy the requirements of the supplemental 

regulations, specifically Zoning Code Sec. 4.2.28.  

 

R. Whether or not the proposed building as a result of its proposed height will create a 

negative shadow impact on any adjoining lot or building: 

 

No, the single-story building with accessory fuel pumps will not create a negative shadow 

impact on any adjoining lot or building.  

 

S. Whether the proposed use would result in a disproportionate proliferation of that or 

similar uses in the subject character area: 

 

No, the accessory fuel pumps will not result in a disproportionate proliferation of that or 

similar uses in the subject character area.  

 

T. Whether the proposed use would be consistent with the needs of the neighborhood 

or to the community as a whole, be compatible with the neighborhood: 

 

Yes, the accessory fuel pumps will provide a service for the neighborhood and to the 

community as a whole by a new, attractive and convenient location for fuel.   

  

CONCLUSION 

 

For the foregoing reasons, the Applicant respectfully requests that this application be 

granted as requested by the Applicant.  If there are any questions about this request, you may 

contact me at 404-665-1242 or jsellers@dillardsellers.com.  

  

  

  
  

  

 
 



Public Participation Plan 

 

In light of the COVID-19 physical distancing recommendations from local and state governmental 

agencies, the Applicant will conduct a community meeting via video conference.  We will post signs on 

the Property with the information.  In addition, the enclosed letter will also be sent to the owners within 

500 feet of the Property. 

 

The Applicant is working with the staff to obtain the addresses for the owners within 500 feet because 

as of now the GIS information available to the Applicant does not include the Property within the City 

and we have not been able to pull the addresses for submittal.  We contacted and have been working 

with the City’s Planning Director and anticipate sending the attached letter on June 9th to allow sufficient 

time for notice. 

 

In addition, the Applicant and representative will be available via phone, email or video conference to 

discuss the development plans, the specific SLUP applications, receive feedback and address any 

questions or concerns from the Community. 



  

 

June 9, 2020 

 

 

Dear Property Owner: 
 

Please take notice that a Special Land Use Permit Application has been submitted to the City 

of Stonecrest for development located within 500 feet of your property.  Please be advised of the 

following information pertaining to the Application and public hearings:   

 
 

APPLICANT NAME:   RS Covington Developments, LLC 
 

REQUEST:   Special Land Use Permit Application 
 

STREET LOCATION:   7101 Covington Highway  

(Parcel ID No. 16 104 04 002) 

 

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT:  Development of a convenience store with fuel pumps and a 

restaurant drive-thru facilities 

 

COMMUNITY MEETING  

June 30, 2020 

6:30pm 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION HEARING  

August 4, 2020 

6:00pm 
 

CITY COUNCIL HEARING  

August 10, 2020 

7:00pm 
 

Due to the COVID-19 outbreak and in accordance with social distancing guidelines, please take 

notice that the Community Meeting will be held by videoconference through online access: 

 

GoTo Meeting 

https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/579870141  

 
 

 If you have questions about the applications, please contact Julie L. Sellers at (404) 665-

1242 or jsellers@dillardsellers.com. 

 

       

https://global.gotomeeting.com/join/579870141
mailto:jsellers@dillardsellers.com


ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ANALYSIS (ESA) FORM 

 

1. Conformance with the Comprehensive Plan 

 

The development of the Property as proposed is consistent with the Urban Neighborhood 

designation of the Future Land Use Map and Comprehensive Plan.   The adjacent properties 

are vacant and surrounding properties are industrial, commercial with some residential on 

the opposite side of Covington Highway.   

 

The Future Land Use Map: 

 

 
 

The proposed use is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

  



2. Environmental Impacts of the Proposed Project 

 

a. Wetlands  

None 

 

b. Floodplain 

None 

 

c. Streams/stream buffers 

None. 

 

d. Slopes exceeding 25 percent over a 10-foot rise in elevation 

None. 

 

e. Vegetation 

None. 

 

f. Wildlife Species (including fish) 

None. 

 

g. Archeological/Historical Sites 

None. 

 

3. Project Implementation Measures 

 

a. Protection of environmentally sensitive areas, i.e., floodplain, slopes exceeding 25 

percent, river corridors. 

 

None on site. 

 

b. Protection of water quality. 

 

Measures will be taken to ensure water quality meets or exceeds the City’s requirements. 

 

c. Minimization of negative impacts on existing infrastructure 

 

No negative impact to existing infrastructure is anticipated.   

 

d. Minimization of archeological/historically significant areas 

 

None on site. 

 

e. Minimization of negative impacts on environmentally stressed communities where 

environmentally stressed communities are defined as communities exposed to a 

minimum of two environmentally adverse conditions resulting from public and 

private municipal (e.g., solid waste and wastewater treatment facilities, utilities, 



airports, and railroads) and industrial (e.g., landfills, quarries and manufacturing 

facilities) uses. 

 

Not applicable.  This area is not an environmentally stressed community, but rather the 

commercial corridor in the City. 

 

f. Creation and preservation of green space and open space 

 

Open space will meet the City’s requirements and the development will include 

landscaping not currently present on the vacant Property.   

 

g. Protection of citizens from the negative impacts of noise and lighting 

 

No negative impact from light or noise is anticipated. 

 

h. Protection of parks and recreational green space 

 

There are no parks or recreational green space adjacent to the Property. 

i. Minimization of impacts to wildlife habitats 

 

None on site. 

 

 
 



8

4

0

8

3

0

8

3

0

8

3

0

8

3

0

8

2

5

8

3

0

8

3

5

8

4

0

8
4
0

8

3

5

8

3

5

835

8

3

0

8

3

5

8
3
0

835

8

4

0

8
3
5

8

3

5

8

3

5

8

3

5

UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E

UG/E

UG
/E

UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E

UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E UG/E

UG/E UG/E

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W
W

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W
W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

W

W

FH

WV

WW

WV

W

W

WV

W

W

WV

WV

OHP
OHP

OHP
OHP

OHP
OHP

OHP
OHP

OHP

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OHP OHP OHP OHP OHP OHP OHP
OHP OHP OHP OHP OHP OHP OHP OHP OHP

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OHP

OHP OHP OHP OHP OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OH
P

OH
P

F

L

U

M

E

24" C
U

R
B

 &
 G

U
T

T
E

R

C
O

N
C

R
E

T
E

2

4

"

 

C

U

R

B

&

 

G

U

T

T

E

R

30" C
U

R
B

 &
 G

U
TTE

R

2
4
"
 
C

U
R

B
 
&

 
G

U
T

T
E

R

2
4
"
 
C

U
R

B

&
 
G

U
T

T
E

R

OHP

OHP

30" C
U

R
B

 &
 G

U
TTE

R

3
0
" C

U
R

B
 &

 G
U

T
T

E
R

2
4
"
 
C

U
R

B
 
&

 
G

U
T

T
E

R

~

C

O

N

C

R

E

T

E

 
S

I
D

E

W

A

L

K

~

2

4

"

 
C

U

R

B

 
&

 
G

U

T

T

E

R

3
0
"
 C

U
R

B
 &

 G
U

T
T

E
R

B

U

S

 
S

T

O

P

FH

FH

PM PM

WM WV

WW

JB

8"P

10"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

7"P

7"P

8"P

8"P

7"P

13"P

9"P

8"P

10"P

14"P

9"P

6"P

7"P

6"P

12"P

10"P

7"P

13"P

10"P

7"P

6"P

8"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

6"P

8"P

6"P

10"P

6"P

6"P

12"P

10"P

10"P

6"P

10"P

8"P

8"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

10"P

7"P

10"P

8"P

8"P

9"P

8"P

7"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

9"P

8"P

8"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

12"P

10"P

10"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

8"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

6"P

8"P

12"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

10"P

6"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

6"P
6"P

6"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

6"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

6"P8"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

8"P

8"P

6"P

8"P
8"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

8"P

8"P

8"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

8"P

8"P

8"P

14"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

6"HW

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

8"P
8"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

8"P

8"P

6"P

6"HW

6"P

COVINGTON HIGHWAY(R/W VARIES) (PUBLICLY DEDICATED)

L
IT

H
O

N
IA

 W
E

ST
 D

R
IV

E
(6

0'
 R

/W
)(

PU
B

L
IC

L
Y

 D
E

D
IC

A
T

E
D

)

JO
IN

T D
R

IVEW
AY AG

R
EEM

EN
T

(TITLE EXC
EPTIO

N
 23)

POC

POB

5/8"CRB SET

5/8"CRB

SET

BOLT

FOUND

1/2"RB

5/8"CRB

SET

MAG NAIL

SET

MAG NAIL SET

5/8"C
R

B
 S

E
T

24" CURB & GUTTER

24" CURB & GUTTER

24" CURB & GUTTER

BLOCK WALL

B

L

O

C

K

 

W

A

L

L

5'APPARENT SHED

ENCROACHMENT

5.1'APPARENT

EQUIPMENT

ENCROACHMENT

B

L

O

C

K

 
W

A

L

L

S

T

O

N

E

S

I
G

N

OHP
OHP

OHP
OHP

OHP
OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP
OHP

OHP
OHP

OHP
OHP

OHP
OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OHP

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

OH
P

8"P

8"P

7"P

6"P

8"P

6"P

6"P

6"P

L

1

L

3

A

R

C

:
2

3

0

.
9

5

'
R

A

D

:
1

1

7

4

.
2

9

'

C

H

:
2

3

0

.
5

8

'

C

1

C

2

175.34'

S
86°45'47"E

N
0
0
°
2
9
'
4
5
"
E

JB

~

~

~

~

S

8

1

°
0

7

'
0

0

"
E

S
0
3
°
3
4
'
4
3
"
W

1
1
0
.
7
0
'

APPR
O

XIM
ATE LO

C
ATIO

N

U
N

D
E

R
G

R
O

U
N

D
 E

LE
C

TR
IC

ITY

PER
 U

TILITY LO
C

ATO
R

2
2
4
.
9
0
'

L

4

X

 
S

C

R

I
B

E

F

N

D

~ASPHALT~

~ASPHALT~

~ASPHALT~

~ASPHALT~

~ASPHALT~

S
86°45'00"E

S
86°45'00"E

149.00'

177.72'

(TRACT 2)

POB

(TRACT 1)

W W W W W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W

W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W

W W W W W W W W W
W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W

W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W W

W

W

W

9

5

S

S

S

S

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS

SS

SS

S

S

S

S

S

SS

SS

SS

SS

~

SS
SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS

~

SS SS SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

S

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SS

SSMH APPROXIMATE

(DEKALB 16-104-S411)

LOCATION

UNABLE TO LOCATE DUE TO

CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS

1
0
' 
L
A

N

D

S

C

A

P

E

 
S

T
R

I
P

6

0

' 
F

R

O

N

T

B

L

D

G

S

E

T

B

A

C

K

60' FR
O

N
T B

LD
G

 S
E

TB
A

C
K

10' LA
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

 S
TR

IP

5/8"

C
R

B
 S

E
T

5

/
8

"

C

R

B

 
S

E

T

5
/
8
"
C

R
B

 
S

E
T

5

0

'
 
F

R

O

N

T

B

L

D

G

S

E

T

B

A

C

K

6

'
 
L

A

N

D

S

C

A

P

E

 
S

T

R

I
P

~ASPHALT~

30' R
EAR

BLD
G

SETBACK

2
0
'
 
S

I
D

E
 
B

L
D

G

S
E

T
B

A
C

K

3
0
' R

E
A

R

B
L
D

G

S
E

T
B

A
C

K

2
0
'
 
S

I
D

E
 
B

L
D

G

S
E

T
B

A
C

K

2
0
'
 
S

I
D

E
 
B

L
D

G

S
E

T
B

A
C

K

WW

W

W
M

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W
W

W

W
W

W

W

W
B

F
P

T

W
M

BFP

N/F

7057 MASTER PROPERTIES LLC

DB-20152 PG-726

TAX PARCEL #16 104 04 022

±

4

,
0

0

0

 
S

F

5

0

'

5

0

'

8
0
'

8
0
'

C-STORE

±
2

,
0

0

7

 
S

F

5
5
'

5

5

'

3

6

.
5

'

3

6

.
5

'

R
E

ST
A

U
R

A
N

T

1

8

'

2

4

'

6
'

2

0

'

10

D

S
3
°
1
5
'
0
0
"
W

2
4
0
.
1
8
'

S86°45'00"E

107.48'

S59°49'02"E   C=67.94'

A=70.51'  R=75.00'

S59°39'10"E   C=67.56'

A=70.08'  R=75.00'

S86°25'17"E

20.13'

S9°45'55"W   C=116.32'

A=116.55'  R=540.00'

N43°30'09"E

11.79'

OUTPARCEL

(±1.443 AC.)

ZONED C-2

REMAINING PROPERTY FOR

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

(± 7.064 AC.)

ZONED C-2

EXISTING ZONING: C-2

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

(TYP.)

EXISTING EDGE OF PAVEMENT

6' SIDEWALK

(TYP. IN R/W)

6' SIDEWALK

(TYP. IN R/W)

EXISTING BUS STOP

EXISTING UNDERGROUND

STORMWATER MANAGEMENT

FACILITY TO BE MODIFIED

AND REUSED

EXISTING STONE SIGN

SPECIAL LAND USE PERMIT

REQUESTED FOR DRIVE-THRU

RESTAURANT

SPECIAL LAND USE PERMIT

REQUESTED FOR CONVENIENCE

STORE WITH FUEL PUMPS

PROPOSED

PROPERTY LINE,

TYP.

T

R

A

C

T

 
1

1

.
5

6

4

 
A

C

.

Z

O

N

E

D

 
C

-
2

SS

SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS

SS

SS

SS
SS

SS
SS

SS

SS
SS

SS

SS

SS

8

2

8

8

2

6

8

2

4

8

3

7

836

8

3

5

8

3

5

8

3

6

8

3

5

8

3

3

8

3

1

8
3
5

836

8
3
6

8

3

7

SMALL PINE TREES TO BE

REMOVED FOR PROPOSED

DEVELOPMENT. NO

SPECIMEN TREES WILL BE

REMOVED.

S86° 45' 00"E

44.87'

S15° 57' 06.59"W

90.73'

N03° 34' 43"E

84.13'

o | 770.368.1399
f | 770.368.1944

w | www.foresitegroup.net

Foresite Group, LLC
1 Galleria Blvd.
Suite 1931
Metairie, LA 70001

TITLE:

DATE:

JURISDICTION:

DRAWING BY:

PROJECT MANAGER:

SHEET NUMBER:

COMMENTS:

SEAL:

DEVELOPER:

PR
OJ

EC
T:

CONTACT: 

DATEREVISIONS

ENGINEER:

SCALE:

JOB/FILE NUMBER:

RS COVINGTON
DEVELOPMENTS, LLC

1776 PEACHTREE STREET
SUITE 390-N

ATLANTA, GA 30309
404.665.1242

ALEEM RAMJI

AREA RESERVED FOR
JURISDICTIONAL APPROVAL STAMPS

GENERAL NOTES:

1) THIS PLAN IS CONCEPTUAL IN NATURE TO BE USED FOR PLANNING

PURPOSES ONLY AND IS SUBJECT TO CHANGE. THE PURPOSE OF THIS

PLAN IS TO DEPICT THE PROPOSED LAND USES.

   

71
01

 C
OV

IN
GT

ON
 H

IG
HW

AY
ST

ON
EC

RE
ST

, D
EK

AL
B 

CO
UN

TY
, G

A 
30

05
8

UN
KN

OW
N 

AT
 T

HI
S 

TI
ME

PA
RC

EL
 #:

16
10

40
40

08
 &

 16
10

40
40

02
, <

##
##

##
##

>

1092.003

SLUP PLAN

C-1

2020-06-02

1" = 30'

JMJ

JRH

STONECREST, GA

NOT RELEASED FOR CONSTRUCTION

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

C:
\U

SE
RS

\JJ
OH

NS
ON

\F
OR

ES
IT

E 
GR

OU
P,

 IN
C\

T-
LD

-S
HA

RE
 - 

PR
OJ

EC
TS

\10
92

.00
3 7

07
7 C

OV
IN

GT
ON

 H
W

Y 
- S

TO
NE

CR
ES

T,
 G

A\
DW

G\
SL

UP
 S

IT
E 

PL
AN

.D
W

G 
    

    
    

    
  P

lot
ted

 on
: 6

/3/
20

20
 10

:11
:40

 A
M 

    
  B

y:J
AC

K 
JO

HN
SO

N 
   S

he
et 

Sc
ale

:1"
 =

 1'
 

00

SCALE IN FEET

60'30'15'30'

1" = 30'

N
A

D
8
3
 
-
 
G

A
 
S

T
A

T
E

 
P

L
A

N
E

 
W

E
S

T
 
Z

O
N

E

VICINITY MAP

(NOT TO SCALE)

N
A

D
8

3
 
-
 
G

A
 
S

T
A

T
E

 
P

L
A

N
E

 
W

E
S

T
 
Z

O
N

E

PARKING CALCULATIONS:

C-STORE REQUIRED: 1 SPACE / 500 SF (MIN); 1 SPACE / 150 SF (MAX) = 8 (MIN) AND 27 (MAX)

C-STORE PROVIDED: 10 SPACES

RESTAURANT REQUIRED: 1 SPACE / 150 SF (MIN); 1 SPACE / 75 SF (MAX) = 14 (MIN) AND 27 (MAX)

RESTAURANT PROVIDED: 14 SPACES

PROPERTY DATA:

1) ZONING IS C-2

2) ACREAGE = 1.564 AC

3) PIN:16 104 04 002

4) LAND LOT 104, 16TH COUNTY DISTRICT

5) THIS SITE DOES NOT LIE WITHIN A SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA PER

FEMA FIRM PANEL 13089C0159J, EFFECTIVE DATE 5/16/2013

6) THERE ARE NO KNOWN WETLANDS, STREAMS OR LAKES ON THE

SUBJECT PROPERTY

7) THERE ARE NO SPECIMEN TREES ON THE SUBJECT PROPERTY

SITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
~

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
C



All that tract or parcel of land lying and being in Land Lot 104, of the 16th District, of Dekalb 
County, Georgia, and being more particularly described as follows: 
 
Commencing at a scribed X found at the intersection of the Westerly right of way line of Lithonia West 
Drive (having a 60-foot publicly dedicated right-of-way) and the Southerly right of way line of Covington 
Highway (having a variable width publicly dedicated right of way), said X being the TRUE POINT OF 
BEGINNING. 
 
Thence leaving said Southerly right of way line of Covington Highway and following said Westerly right 
of way line of Lithonia West Drive the following courses and distances: South 15 degrees 57 minutes 07 
seconds West a distance of 90.73 feet to a 5/8-inch capped rebar set; along a curve to the left, said 
curve having a radius of 540.00 feet, with an arc distance of 116.55 feet, with a chord bearing of South 
09 degrees 45 minutes 55 seconds West and a chord length of 116.32 feet to a 5/8-inch capped rebar 
set; South 03 degrees 34 minutes 43 seconds West a distance of 84.13 feet to a 5/8-inch capped rebar 
set; Thence leaving said Westerly right of way line of Lithonia West Drive North 86 degrees 25 minutes 
17 seconds West a distance of 20.13 feet to a 5/8-inch capped rebar set; Thence along a curve to the 
right, said curve having a radius of 75.00 feet, with an arc distance of 70.08 feet, with a chord bearing of 
North 59 degrees 39 minutes 10 seconds West and a chord length of 67.56 feet to a 5/8-inch capped 
rebar set; Thence along a curve to the left, said curve having a radius of 75.00 feet, with an arc distance 
of 70.51 feet, with a chord bearing of North 59 degrees 49 minutes 02 seconds West and a chord length 
of 67.94 feet to a 5/8-inch capped rebar set; Thence North 86 degrees 45 minutes 00 seconds West a 
distance of 107.48 feet to a 5/8-inch capped rebar set; Thence North 03 degrees 15 minutes 00 seconds 
East a distance of 24.54 feet to a 5/8-inch capped rebar set; Thence North 03 degrees 15 minutes 00 
seconds East a distance of 215.64 feet to a to a 5/8-inch capped rebar set on the Southerly right of way 
line of Covington Highway; Thence following said Southerly right of way line of Covington Highway the 
following courses and distances: South 86 degrees 45 minutes 00 seconds East a distance of 44.87 feet 
to a 5/8-inch capped rebar set; North 43 degrees 30 minutes 09 seconds East a distance of 11.79 feet to 
a 5/8-inch capped rebar set; along a curve to the right, said curve having a radius of 1174.29 feet, with 
an arc distance of 230.95 feet, with a chord bearing of South 81 degrees 07 minutes 00 seconds East and 
a chord length of 230.58 feet to a scribed X found, said X being the TRUE POINT OF BEGINNING.  
 
Said tract of land contains 1.564 Acres (68,106 square feet). 



7
1

0
1

 C
O

V
IN

G
T

O
N

 H
IG

H
W

A
Y

S
T

O
N

E
C

R
E

S
T

, 
D

E
K

A
L

B
 C

O
U

N
T

Y
G

A
 3

0
0

5
8

C
 -

 S
to

re
 a

t 
L

it
h

o
n

ia
 W

e
s
t

0.00 GROUND LEVEL

FRONT ELEVATION1
SCALE: 1/8"=1'-0"

+11'-0" TOP OF CANOPY

+14'-0"  TOP OF ROOF

+18'-4" TOP OF PARAPET

+23'-0" TOP OF HIGH PARAPET

CENTER LINEC-STORERETAILCENTER LINE

A3.1

1
8" = 1'-0"

0.00 GROUND LEVEL

+14'-0"  TOP OF ROOF

+17'-4" TOP OF PARAPET

REAR ELEVATION2
SCALE: 1/8"=1'-0"

SIDE ELEVATION3
SCALE: 1/8"=1'-0"

SIDE ELEVATION4
SCALE: 1/8"=1'-0"

+21'-0" TOP OF PARAPET

0.00 GROUND LEVEL

+14'-0"  TOP OF ROOF

+17'-4" TOP OF PARAPET

0.00 GROUND LEVEL

+14'-0"  TOP OF ROOF

+17'-4" TOP OF PARAPET

06-04-2020
43

2

6

7

7

1

5

1 3

2

4

4

4 4

7
7

7 7

4

2

MATERIAL LEGEND

1    TEMPERED GLASS DOOR W/ FRAME
2    TEMPERED GLASS STOREFRONT
3    WOOD LAP SIDING
4    HARD STUCCO
5    METAL CANOPY
6    METAL GRILLE
7    METAL COPING

C-STORE RETAIL

BUILDING
ELEVATIONS

PR
O

D
U

C
ED

 B
Y 

A
N

 A
U

TO
D

ES
K

 S
TU

D
EN

T 
VE

R
SI

O
N

PRODUCED BY AN AUTODESK STUDENT VERSION
PR

O
D

U
C

ED
 B

Y A
N

 A
U

TO
D

ESK
 STU

D
EN

T VER
SIO

N
PRODUCED BY AN AUTODESK STUDENT VERSION

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHEET

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOB NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FILENAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TITLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REMARKS



 

 

 

Trip Generation Memo - June 2, 2020: 
To: RS Covington Developments, LLC 

1776 Peachtree Street 
Suite 390-N 
Atlanta, GA 30309 
 

Re: Gas Station + Restaurant, Covington Hwy – Stonecrest, GA 
 
 
A development consisting of a 4,000-SF gas station with convenience market with 10 fueling pumps and 
a 2,008-SF fast-food restaurant with a drive-through window is proposed at 7101 Covington Hwy in the 
City of Stonecrest in Dekalb County. The project trips for the proposed development were calculated using 
equations contained in the Institute of Transportation Engineers’ (ITE) latest Trip Generation Manual, 10th 
Ed, 2017. Table 1 summarizes the trip generation for the proposed development.  
 
Table 1: Trip Generation 

 
 
The proposed development is anticipated to generate 1,096 net new daily trips (548 inbound and 548 
outbound) with the PM peak being the highest with the 94 net new trips (48 inbound and 46 outbound).  
There are 76 net new trips anticipated in the PM peak (39 inbound and 37 outbound). 
 
Please contact me at 770-368-1399 if you have any questions or need additional information. Thank you 
for your time and consideration. 

 

Sincerely, 

FORESITE GROUP, LLC  

 

 

Stevie Berryman, PE 
Project Manager 

ITE
LUC Total In Out Total In Out Total In Out

Gasoline/Service Station with Convenience Market 10 Pumps  945 1,524 762 762 93 47 46 140 71 69
Fast-Food Restaurant with Drive-Through Window 2,008 S.F. 934 946 473 473 81 41 40 66 34 32

2,470 1,235 1,235 174 88 86 206 105 101
1,374 687 687 98 49 49 112 57 55
1,096 548 548 76 39 37 94 48 46

PM Peak Hour

Reductions for Pass-By Trips
Total Net New Project Trips

Total Trips

Project Land Use Density
Daily AM Peak Hour



 

PLANNING COMMISSION / MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
 

 1   
  SLUP-20-003  

         Planning Commission September 16th, 2020 / Mayor and City Council Meeting September 28th, 2020 

GENERAL INFORMATION 

Petition Number:   SLUP-20-003  

Applicant:    RS Covington Development c/o Julie Sellers  

Owner:    Lithonia Real Estate Development  

Project Location:   7101 Covington Hwy 

District:    District 2 

Acreage:    2.75 acres 

Existing Zoning:   C-1 (Local Commercial) District   

Proposed Zoning:   C-1 (Local Commercial) District    

Comprehensive Plan Community: Urban Neighborhood        

 Area Designation 

Proposed Development/Request: The applicant is requesting a special land use permits to construct a 

6,000 square foot convenience store with the accessory fuel pump and 

drive thru per Sec 4.2.23 and Sec.4.2.28 

Staff Recommendations:  Approval with Conditions  

  Planning Commission:  Approval with Conditions 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION / MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
 

 2   
  SLUP-20-003  

Aerial Map 

  

 

 

Subject Property   



 

PLANNING COMMISSION / MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
 

 3   
  SLUP-20-003  

Zoning Map  

 

Subject Property   



 

PLANNING COMMISSION / MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
 

 4   
  SLUP-20-003  

PROJECT OVERVIEW 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Location              

The subject property is located at 7101 Covington Hwy. The 

property is approximately 1,650 feet west of Covington Hwy 

and Lithonia Industrial Blvd intersection.   

The property is bounded by Covington Hwy to the north, by 

an industrial zoned property to the south, an undeveloped 

parcel to the east and commercial zoned property to the west.  

 

 

Background               

Currently, the property has kept its original zoning 

classification of C-1 (Local Commercial) under Stonecrest 

Zoning Ordinance but original was in the Stonecrest Tier IV 

Overlay. The property was removed during the November 

25th City Council Meeting.  

The property has been partially been developed with paved 

road existing on the property and sewer pipes. The 

topography of the property is characterized as being even 

throughout.                   

 

SLUP-20-003 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION / MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
 

 5   
  SLUP-20-003  

 

Rezoning Request  

The applicant is requesting special land use permits the subject property to construct a 6,000 commercial convenience 

store and drive through. It should be noted the applicant can build the convince store with accessory fuel pumps without a 

SLUP per Sec.4.2.28 Stonecrest Zoning Ordinance. The applicant indicated it would prefer to develop the property with 

the restaurant drive, though than just a standalone convenience store.   

The first (A) request for the convenience store with accessory fuel pumps will be a total of 4,000 square feet, and the 

second (B) request is for the restaurant with a drive-through that will be 2,000 square feet. The applicant has provided a 

conceptual site plan and proposed elevations for review; 

Conceptual Site Plan                            

 

 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION / MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
 

 6   
  SLUP-20-003  

Proposed Elevations  

 

 

 

Public Participation                        

Property owners within 500 feet of subject property were mailed notices of the proposed rezoning in January. The 

community meeting was held on August 4, 2020, at 6:00 pm via the global meeting web application. Several residents  

attended the community meeting regarding special land use permit applications. There were several concerns from 

residents regarding traffic and type of business at the subject property.  

 

 

 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION / MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
 

 7   
  SLUP-20-003  

CRITERIA OF REVIEW 

Section 7.4.6 of the Stonecrest Zoning Ordinance list nineteen factors to be considered in a technical review of a special 

land use permit completed by the Community Development Department and Planning Commission. Each criterion is 

listed with staff analysis. * 

A. Adequacy of the size of the site for the use contemplated and whether or not the adequate land area is 

available for the proposed use including the provision of all required yards, open space, off-street parking, 

and all other applicable requirements of the zoning district in which the use is proposed to be located. 

 

The approximately 4,000 square foot commercial space on 1.5 acres is adequate for the operation of a retail 

convenience store with accessory fuel pumps and 2,000 square feet for the restaurant drive through 

 

B. Compatibility of the proposed use with adjacent properties and land uses and with other properties and 

land uses in the district. 

 

Both the proposed convenience store with accessorily fuel pumps and restaurant drive through is compatible with 

the adjacent properties and land uses in the district Staff believes a convenience store with fuel pumps and 

restaurant with a drive through retail would be with the surrounding business in the immediate area.  

 

C. Adequacy of public services, public facilities, and utilities to serve the proposed use. 

 

There are adequate public services, public facilities, and utilities to sever the for both uses.  

 

D. Adequacy of the public street on which the use is proposed to be located and whether or not there is 

sufficient traffic-carrying capacity for the use proposed so as not to unduly increase traffic and create 

congestion in the area. 

 

Covington Hwy classified as minor arterial, and the Planning Staff believes little or no impact on the public 

streets or traffic in the area for both uses.  

 

E. Whether existing land uses located along access routes to the site will be adversely affected by the character 

of the vehicles or the volume of traffic generated by the proposed use. 

 

The existing land use located along the access routes to the site would not be adversely affected by the character 

of the vehicles of the volume traffic generated by the proposed uses. Covington Hwy is a minor arterial road that 

is designed to handle a commercial development.  

 

F. Adequacy of ingress and egress to the subject property and to all proposed buildings, structures, and uses 

thereon, with particular reference to pedestrian and automotive safety and convenience, traffic flow and 

control, and access in the event of a fire or another emergency. 

 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION / MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
 

 8   
  SLUP-20-003  

The existing subject property can be accessed by vehicles via an existing curb cut with a driveway on Covington 

Hwy and secondary access via Lithonia West Drive. Emergency vehicles can access the site from the existing 

driveway. 

 

G. Whether the proposed use will create adverse impacts upon any adjoining land use by reason of noise, 

smoke, odor, dust, or vibration generated by the proposed use. 

 

The proposed use will not create an adverse impact upon any adjoining land use by reason of noise, smoke, odor, 

dust, or vibration generated by the proposed use. The adjoining property is zoned commercial.   

 

H. Whether the proposed use will create adverse impacts upon any adjoining land use by reason of the hours 

of operation of the proposed use. 

 

The proposed uses will not create an adverse impact upon any adjoining land use by reason of the hours of 

operation of the proposed uses. The adjoining property is undeveloped.  

 

I. Whether the proposed use will create adverse impacts upon any adjoining land use by reason of the 

manner of operation of the proposed use. 

 

The proposed uses will not create an adverse impact upon any adjoining land use by reason of the manner of 

operation of the proposed uses. The adjoining property is undeveloped 

 

J. Whether the proposed use is otherwise consistent with the requirements of the zoning district classification 

in which the use is proposed to be located. 

 

The proposed use is otherwise consistent with the requirement of the zoning district classification in which the use 

is proposed to be located.  

 

K. Whether the proposed use is consistent with the policies of the comprehensive plan. 

 

The proposed use is consistent with the policies of the comprehensive plan. Staff believes the convenience store 

with accessory fuel pumps and restaurant with a drive-through is intended for small-scale convenience goods or 

services meant for the area. There are several similar business places along Covington Hwy. 

 

L. Whether the proposed use provides for all required buffer zones and transitional buffer zones where 

required by the regulations of the zoning district in which the use is proposed to be located. 

 

The proposed uses do not require buffer and transitional buffers required by the zoning district.  

 

M. Whether there is adequate provision of refuse and service areas. 

 

An adequate refuse and service area will be provided by the applicant.  

 

N. Whether the length of time for which the special land use permit is granted should be limited in duration. 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION / MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
 

 9   
  SLUP-20-003  

 

Staff believes there is not a compelling reason to limit the special land use duration as the applicant. 

 

O. Whether the size, scale, and massing of proposed buildings are appropriate in relation to the size of the 

subject property and in relation to the size, scale, and massing of adjacent and nearby lots and buildings. 

 

The proposed convenience store with accessory fuel pumps and restaurant with drive through has the appropriate 

structure, which is consistent in size, scale, and massing with adjacent and surrounding buildings in the area. 

 

P. Whether the proposed use will adversely affect historic buildings, sites, districts, or archaeological 

resources. 

 

This use will not adversely affect any historic buildings, sites, districts, or archaeological resources. 

 

Q. Whether the proposed use satisfies the requirements contained within the supplemental regulations for 

such special land use permits. 

 

The proposed use submitted site plan submitted to Staff has met all the requirements within the supplemental 

regulation Sec 4.2.23 and Sec 4.2.28 set forth by the zoning ordinance.  

 

R. Whether the proposed use will create a negative shadow impact on any adjoining lot or building as a result 

of the proposed building height. 

 

The proposed uses will not exceed the height of nearby residential structures. The proposed building would be 

similar to the height of other commercial developments in the area. There will be no negative show impact on any 

adjoining lot. 

 

S. Whether the proposed use would result in a disproportionate proliferation of that or similar uses in the 

subject character area. 

 

The proposed use of a convenience store with fuel pumps would result in excessive proliferation of similar use in 

the subject character area as there are no other existing convenience stores. The proposed use of restaurant with a 

drive-through would not result in a disproportionate proliferation.  

 

T. Whether the proposed use would be consistent with the needs of the neighborhood or the community as a 

whole, be compatible with the neighborhood, and would not be in conflict with the overall objective of the 

comprehensive plan. 

 

The proposed convenience store with auxiliary fuel pumps would not be consistent with the needs of the 

neighborhood or the community as a whole, and the restaurant drive-through would be consistent with the needs 

of the neighborhood and compatible with the neighborhood and is not in conflict with the overall objective of the 

comprehensive plan.  

 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION / MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
 

 10   
  SLUP-20-003  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION  

Base on the findings and conclusions, it appears the applicant does not meet all the criteria for approval. However, since 

the applicant has the right to construct a convenience store with fuel pumps without the special land use permit by 

meeting three of four criteria in Sec 4.2.23 of the zoning ordinance. The Staff believes the convince store with fuel pumps 

and restaurants with a drive, though, would be a better fit for the city than the standalone convenience store. Therefore, 

Staff recommends, subject to the following conditions: 

1. The use of the Subject Property for any of the following shall be strictly prohibited:  

a. A child's daycare center and/or kindergarten.  

b. Barbershop / Beauty Salon or similar establishments. 

c. Gold-Buying establishment. .  

d. Nightclub.  

e. Skating rink; and  

f. indoor and/or outdoor recreation. 

 

2. The site shall be developed in general conformance with the site plan received by the City on June 6, 2020. 

 

3. Exterior elevations shall be similar to the elevations received by the City on June6. Final elevations shall be 

subject to review and approval of the Planning and Zoning Director. 

 

 

4. Owner/Developer shall install a five-foot (5’) wide sidewalk along the entire frontage of Covington Hwy.  

 

5. Owner/Developer shall obtain all permits required by the City of Stonecrest in accordance with the development 

of the subject property. 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION 

On Wednesday, September 16, the Planning Commission recommends Approval of SLUP-20-003 with the following 

conditions; 

1. The use of the Subject Property for any of the following shall be strictly prohibited:  

a. A child's daycare center and/or kindergarten.  

b. Barbershop / Beauty Salon or similar establishments. 

c. Gold-Buying establishment. .  

d. Nightclub.  

e. Skating rink; and  

f. indoor and/or outdoor recreation. 

 

2. The site shall be developed in general conformance with the site plan received by the City on June 6, 2020. 

 

3. Exterior elevations shall be similar to the elevations received by the City on June6. Final elevations shall be 

subject to review and approval of the Planning and Zoning Director. 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION / MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL STAFF REPORT 
 

 11   
  SLUP-20-003  

 

 

4. Owner/Developer shall install a five-foot (5’) wide sidewalk along the entire frontage of Covington Hwy. 

 

5. Owner/Developer shall obtain all permits required by the City of Stonecrest in accordance with the development 

of the subject property 

 



Planning Commission 
September 16th, 2020

Public Hearing

1



SLUP-20-002
6623 Housworth Lane, Stonecrest, 

GA 30038

2



Petition Information

• APPLICANT: Angaleque Crawford-Fowler

• LOCATION:   6623 Hosuworth Lane

• ACREAGE:   0.3 Acres 

• REQUEST:  The applicant is requesting a Special Land Use 
Permit (SLUP) for the operation of childcare home up to six 
(6) children.   

3



General Information
• Current zoning: (R-85) Residential Medium Lot District 

• Future Land Use Character Area: Suburban Residential 

• Policies for this area emphasize:
– Protect stable neighborhoods from incompatible development that 

could alter established single-family residential development pattern 
and density.

– Encourage residential development to conform with traditional 
neighborhood development principles including improved pedestrian 
vehicular activity. . 

• Surrounding uses: Residential.

• Surrounding zoning: R-85 (Residential Med Lot) District  

4



Aerial Map 

5



Zoning Map 

6



Survey of Proposed Child Care 
Home 

7



Elevation of subject property 

8



STANDARDS OF REVIEW
A. Adequacy of the size of the site for the use contemplated and whether or not the adequate land area is available for 

the proposed use including the provision of all required yards, open space, off-street parking, and all other 
applicable requirements of the zoning district in which the use is proposed to be located

B. Compatibility of the proposed use with adjacent properties and land uses and with other properties and land uses in 
the district.

C. Adequacy of public services, public facilities, and utilities to serve the proposed use.

D. Adequacy of the public street on which the use is proposed to be located and whether or not there is sufficient traffic-
carrying capacity for the use proposed so as not to unduly increase traffic and create congestion in the area.

E. Whether existing land uses located along access routes to the site will be adversely affected by the character of the 
vehicles or the volume of traffic generated by the proposed use.

F. Adequacy of ingress and egress to the subject property and to all proposed buildings, structures, and uses thereon, 
with particular reference to pedestrian and automotive safety and convenience, traffic flow and control, and access 
in the event of a fire or another emergency.

G. Whether the proposed use will create adverse impacts upon any adjoining land use by reason of noise, smoke, odor, 
dust, or vibration generated by the proposed use.

H. Whether the proposed use will create adverse impacts upon any adjoining land use by reason of the hours of 
operation of the proposed use.

I. Whether the proposed use will create adverse impacts upon any adjoining land use by reason of the manner of 
operation of the proposed use.

J. Whether the proposed use is otherwise consistent with the requirements of the zoning district classification in which 
the use is proposed to be located.

9



STANDARDS OF REVIEW
K. Whether the proposed use is consistent with the policies of the comprehensive plan.

L. Whether the proposed use provides for all required buffer zones and transitional buffer zones where required by the 
regulations of the zoning district in which the use is proposed to be located.

M. Whether there is adequate provision of refuse and service areas.

N. Whether the length of time for which the special land use permit is granted should be limited in duration.

O. Whether the size, scale, and massing of proposed buildings are appropriate in relation to the size of the subject property 
and in relation to the size, scale, and massing of adjacent and nearby lots and buildings.

P. Whether the proposed use will adversely affect historic buildings, sites, districts, or archaeological resources

Q. Whether the proposed use satisfies the requirements contained within the supplemental regulations for such special land 
use permits.

R. Whether the proposed use will create a negative shadow impact on any adjoining lot or building as a result of the 
proposed building height.

S. Whether the proposed use would result in a disproportionate proliferation of that or similar uses in the subject character 
area.

T. Whether the proposed use would be consistent with the needs of the neighborhood or the community as a whole, be 
compatible with the neighborhood, and would not be in conflict with the overall objective of the comprehensive plan.

10



Staff Analysis
Base on the findings and conclusions, it appears the applicant meets all the criteria for 
approval. Therefore, staff recommends APPROVAL of SLUP-20-002 the following 
conditions;

1. Limit the use of childcare homes only to five (5) persons. 
2. Access shall be limited to the existing curb cut off Housworth Lane.
3. All refuse containers shall be screened from public view except during pick up.
4. No identification sign for childcare home shall be posted on the property. 
5. Owner/Operator must live on the property according to the supplemental 

regulations cited in the Stonecrest Zoning Ordinance Sec. 4.2.31 and 4.2.41.
6. The applicants shall secure the necessary certification by the State of Georgia, and 

the license of business required building permits and certificates of occupancy from 
the city of Stonecrest. 

7. The Special Land Use Permit shall be issued to Angaleque Fowler (operator) to 
operate a childcare home and shall not be transferable. 

11



SLUP-20-003
7101 Covington Hwy, Stonecrest, 

GA 30038

12



Petition Information

• APPLICANT: RS Covington Development c/o Julie Sellers

• LOCATION:   7101 Covington Hwy

• ACREAGE:   1.6 Acres 

• REQUEST: The applicant is requesting a special land use permits 
to construct a 6,000 square foot convenience store with the 
accessory fuel pump and drive thru per Sec 4.2.23 and Sec.4.2.28

13



General Information
• Current zoning: (C-1) Local Commercial District 

• Future Land Use Character Area: Urban Neighborhood 

• Policies for this area emphasize:
– Protect stable neighborhoods from incompatible development 

that could alter established single-family residential development 
pattern and density.

– Promote street design that fosters traffic calming including 
narrower residential streets, on-street parking and the additional 
of bicycle and pedestrian facilities.

• Surrounding uses: Commercial and Industrial.

• Surrounding zoning: C-1 and M (Light Industrial)  District  

14



Aerial Map 

15



Zoning Map 

16



Site Plan for Proposed Development

17



Elevation of Commercial 
Development 

18



STANDARDS OF REVIEW
A. Adequacy of the size of the site for the use contemplated and whether or not the adequate land area is available for 

the proposed use including the provision of all required yards, open space, off-street parking, and all other 
applicable requirements of the zoning district in which the use is proposed to be located

B. Compatibility of the proposed use with adjacent properties and land uses and with other properties and land uses in 
the district.

C. Adequacy of public services, public facilities, and utilities to serve the proposed use.

D. Adequacy of the public street on which the use is proposed to be located and whether or not there is sufficient traffic-
carrying capacity for the use proposed so as not to unduly increase traffic and create congestion in the area.

E. Whether existing land uses located along access routes to the site will be adversely affected by the character of the 
vehicles or the volume of traffic generated by the proposed use.

F. Adequacy of ingress and egress to the subject property and to all proposed buildings, structures, and uses thereon, 
with particular reference to pedestrian and automotive safety and convenience, traffic flow and control, and access 
in the event of a fire or another emergency.

G. Whether the proposed use will create adverse impacts upon any adjoining land use by reason of noise, smoke, odor, 
dust, or vibration generated by the proposed use.

H. Whether the proposed use will create adverse impacts upon any adjoining land use by reason of the hours of 
operation of the proposed use.

I. Whether the proposed use will create adverse impacts upon any adjoining land use by reason of the manner of 
operation of the proposed use.

J. Whether the proposed use is otherwise consistent with the requirements of the zoning district classification in which 
the use is proposed to be located.

19



STANDARDS OF REVIEW
K. Whether the proposed use is consistent with the policies of the comprehensive plan.

L. Whether the proposed use provides for all required buffer zones and transitional buffer zones where required by the 
regulations of the zoning district in which the use is proposed to be located.

M. Whether there is adequate provision of refuse and service areas.

N. Whether the length of time for which the special land use permit is granted should be limited in duration.

O. Whether the size, scale, and massing of proposed buildings are appropriate in relation to the size of the subject property 
and in relation to the size, scale, and massing of adjacent and nearby lots and buildings.

P. Whether the proposed use will adversely affect historic buildings, sites, districts, or archaeological resources

Q. Whether the proposed use satisfies the requirements contained within the supplemental regulations for such special land 
use permits.

R. Whether the proposed use will create a negative shadow impact on any adjoining lot or building as a result of the 
proposed building height.

S. Whether the proposed use would result in a disproportionate proliferation of that or similar uses in the subject character 
area.

T. Whether the proposed use would be consistent with the needs of the neighborhood or the community as a whole, be 
compatible with the neighborhood, and would not be in conflict with the overall objective of the comprehensive plan.

20



Staff Analysis
Base on the findings and conclusions, it appears the applicant does not meet all the criteria for approval. 
However, since the applicant has the right to construct a convenience store with fuel pumps without the 
special land use permit by meeting three of four criteria in Sec 4.2.23 of the zoning ordinance. The Staff 
believes the convince store with fuel pumps and restaurant with a drive, though, would be a better fit for 
the city than the standalone convenience store. Therefore, Staff recommends, subject to the following 
conditions:
1. The use of the Subject Property for any of the following shall be strictly prohibited: 

a. A child's daycare center and/or kindergarten. 
b. Barbershop / Beauty Salon or similar establishments.
c. Gold-Buying establishment. . 
d. Nightclub. 
e. Skating rink; and 
f. indoor and/or outdoor recreation.

2. The site shall be developed in general conformance with the site plan received by the City on June 6, 
2020.

3. Exterior elevations shall be similar to the elevations received by the City on June6. Final elevations 
shall be subject to review and approval of the Planning and Zoning Director.

4. Owner/Developer shall install a five-foot (5’) wide sidewalk along the entire frontage of Covington 
Hwy. 

5. Owner/Developer shall obtain all permits required by the City of Stonecrest in accordance with the 
development of the subject property.

21



Planning Commission Recommendation

22



STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF DEKALB 

CITY OF STONECREST 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-____ 

A RESOLUTION IN SUPPORT OF THE APPLICATION TO AND THE COMMITMENT TO 1 

PROVIDE LONG-TERM MAINTENANCE AND MANAGEMENT FOR COMPLETED 2 

PROJECTS APPROVED BY THE GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES 3 

OUTDOOR STEWARDSHIP GRANT PROGRAM BY ANY PRIVATE THIRD-PARTY WHO 4 

SECURES THE GRANT FUNDING; TO PROVIDE AN EFFECTIVE DATE; TO REPEAL 5 

CONFLICTING RESOLUTIONS; TO PROVIDE FOR SEVERABILITY; AND FOR OTHER 6 

LAWFUL PURPOSES. 7 

 8 
WHEREAS, Mayor and Council of the City of Stonecrest, Georgia reviewed a 9 

presentation regarding certain improvements to city parks and grant funding options; and 10 

WHEREAS, it was presented that the City of Stonecrest, Georgia should support the 11 

submittal of applications by private third parties to the Georgia Outdoor Stewardship Grant 12 

Program in the hopes of securing grant funding; and 13 

WHEREAS, the City of Stonecrest, Georgia does hereby support private third-party 14 

applications to the Georgia Outdoor Stewardship Grant Program for eligible projects; and  15 

WHEREAS, the City of Stonecrest, Georgia further agrees that in the event that the project 16 

application is recommended for funding by the Department of Natural Resources, Mayor and 17 

Council for the City of Stonecrest, Georgia will commit to the maintenance and management of 18 

the improvements made after the project is completed; and 19 



WHEREAS, if approved for the grant funding, the City of Stonecrest, Georgia, by and 20 

through its Parks and Recreation Department, will coordinate with the private third party who 21 

secured the grant funding concerning any project; and  22 

WHEREAS, this Resolution promotes the health, safety, and well-being of the citizens of 23 

the City of Stonecrest, Georgia. 24 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT AND IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR 25 

AND COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STONECREST, GEORGIA, as follows: 26 

SECTION I 27 

The City of Stonecrest, Georgia (“City”) supports applications by private third parties 28 

seeking funding by way of a grant from the Georgia Department of Natural Resources Georgia 29 

Outdoor Stewardship Program (“Stewardship Program”) for proposed projects within the City of 30 

Stonecrest.  31 

Furthermore, the City of Stonecrest Parks and Recreation Department maintains an 32 

extensive inventory of park and recreation areas. As such, the City commits to the long-term 33 

maintenance and management of improvements made under any proposed project submitted to 34 

and approved by the Stewardship Program upon completion of the approved project.  Funding for 35 

staff, operations, and maintenance is approved on an annual basis as part of the City's annual 36 

budget approval process. The City currently contracts with a private company to provide park 37 

maintenance. Adequate funding will be included in the budget each year to ensure successful long-38 

term management of project improvements. The City operates the equivalent of dawn to dusk 39 

operation and access to parks is secured to minimize unauthorized entry. User fees are not assessed 40 

for the City's parks. Law enforcement is provided by DeKalb County police, and Panola Shoals 41 



and Everett Park are patrolled by City of Stonecrest Park Ambassadors and the DeKalb County 42 

Game Warden.  43 

SECTION II 44 

(a) It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Mayor and Council that all sections, 45 

paragraphs, sentences, clauses and phrases of this Resolution are or were, upon their enactment, 46 

believed by the Mayor and Council to be fully valid, enforceable and constitutional.  47 

(b) It is hereby declared to be the intention of the Mayor and Council that, to the greatest 48 

extent allowed by law, each and every section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this 49 

Resolution is severable from every other section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this 50 

Resolution. It is hereby further declared to be the intention of the Mayor and Council that, to 51 

the greatest extent allowed by law, no section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of this 52 

Resolution is mutually dependent upon any other section, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase 53 

of this Resolution.  54 

(c) In the event that any phrase, clause, sentence, paragraph or section of this Resolution 55 

shall, for any reason whatsoever, be declared invalid, unconstitutional or otherwise 56 

unenforceable by the valid judgment or decree of any court of competent jurisdiction, it is the 57 

express intent of the Mayor and Council that such invalidity, unconstitutionality or 58 

unenforceability shall, to the greatest extent allowed by law, not render invalid, unconstitutional 59 

or otherwise unenforceable any of the remaining phrases, clauses, sentences, paragraphs or 60 

sections of the Resolution and that, to the greatest extent allowed by law, all remaining phrases, 61 

clauses, sentences, paragraphs and sections of the Resolution shall remain valid, constitutional, 62 

enforceable, and of full force and effect.  63 

SECTION III 64 



All resolutions and parts of resolutions in conflict herewith are hereby expressly repealed.  65 

 66 

    SECTION IV 67 

This Resolution shall become effective upon the date of approval and execution by the 68 

Mayor and Council of the City of Stonecrest, Georgia. 69 

 70 

SO RESOLVED, this ______ day of ____________________, 2020. 71 
 72 

 73 
 74 
CITY OF STONECREST, GEORGIA 75 
 76 
______________________________________ 77 
Jason Lary, Sr., Mayor 78 

 79 
ATTEST: 80 
 81 
 82 
___________________________________ 83 
Megan Reid, City Clerk 84 
 85 
 86 
 87 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 88 
 89 
 90 
___________________________________ 91 
City Attorney 92 
 93 



&,7<�&281&,/�$*(1'$�,7(0

68%-(&7� ([WHUQDO�$XGLW�RI�*RYHUQPHQW�&UHGLW�&DUGV�DQG�RU�3XUFKDVLQJ�&DUGV

� � 25',1$1&( � � 32/,&< ���� 67$786�5(3257

���� ',6&866,21�21/< � � 5(62/87,21 �;� 27+(5

'DWH�6XEPLWWHG� ��������� :RUN�6HVVLRQ� &RXQFLO 0HHWLQJ��;�

68%0,77('�%<�� -D]]PLQ�&REEOH��*HRUJH 7XUQHU� 5RE�7XUQHU��7DPP\ *ULPHV

385326(���&RQWUDFW�ZLWK�DQ�H[WHUQDO�DXGLWLQJ�ILUP�WR�FRQGXFW�D�FRPSUHKHQVLYH�DXGLW�RI�DOO�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW�
SXUFKDVLQJ�FUHGLW�FDUGV�WUDQVDFWLRQV�IURP�����������WR�HQVXUH�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�3XUFKDVLQJ�&DUG�3ROLF\�DQG�
6WDWH�RI�*HRUJLD�/DZV��

+,6725<�� 'XULQJ� WKH SUHVHQWDWLRQ� RI� WKH� )<� �� H[WHUQDO� DXGLW� SUHVHQWDWLRQ�� RQH� RI� WKH�
PDQDJHPHQW� REVHUYDWLRQV�UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV�ZDV�WKDW�WKH���SXUFKDVLQJ�FDUG�KROGHUV�NHSW�SRVVHVVLRQ�RI�WKH�FDUGV�
DW� DOO� WLPHV�DQG� LW� LV� UHFRPPHQGHG� WKDW� ZKHQ� QRW� LQ� XVH� WKH� FDUGV� VKRXOG� EH� VHFXUHO\ ORFNHG� LQ� WKH� DFFRXQWLQJ�
PDQDJHU·V RIILFH�IRU�VDIHNHHSLQJ�DQG�FRQWURO�SXUSRVHV��:KHQ�IROORZLQJ�XS�RQ�WKLV�UHFRPPHQGDWLRQ��'RXJ�0RVHV�
RI�0DXOGHQ�	�-HQNLQV�LQIRUPHG�XV�WKDW�WKH�DXGLW�VDPSOH�UHTXHVWHG�IURP�WKH�FLW\ ZHUH WUDQVDFWLRQV�IURP�'HFHPEHU�
����� RQO\��:KHQ� DVNHG� LI� TXDUWHUO\� RU� PRQWKO\� UHFRQFLOLDWLRQ� UHSRUWV� ZHUH� UHTXHVWHG� RI� WKH� FLW\�� ZH� ZHUH�
LQIRUPHG� WKDW� WKH\� ZHUH� QRW�� :KHQ�DVNHG�LI�SXUFKDVLQJ�FDUG�KROGHU�DJUHHPHQWV�ZHUH�YHULILHG��ZH�ZHUH�LQIRUPHG�
WKDW�WKH\�ZHUH�QRW�

)$&76�$1'�,668(6��7R�GDWH��WKH FLW\ FRXQFLO�KDV�QRW EHHQ�PDGH DZDUH RI DQ\�PRQWKO\�RU�TXDUWHUO\ UHYLHZV�
DQG�DXGLWV�RI�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW�SXUFKDVLQJ�FUHGLW FDUG WUDQVDFWLRQV�IRU�WKH�\HDUV������������$FFRUGLQJ�WR�WKH�
3XUFKDVLQJ�&DUG�3ROLF\�6HFWLRQ�+��$FFRXQWLQJ�DQG�$XGLWLQJ��´WKH�DGPLQLVWUDWRU�ZLOO�FRQGXFW�PRQWKO\ DQG�RU�
TXDUWHUO\ UHYLHZV�DQG�DXGLWV�RI�DOO JRYHUQPHQW SXUFKDVLQJ FDUG�RU�JRYHUQPHQW�FUHGLW FDUG�WUDQVDFWLRQVµ� ,Q�VHFWLRQ�*�
´WKH FLW\ GHVLJQDWHV�WKH�&LW\�0DQDJHU�DV�WKH�SURJUDP�DGPLQLVWUDWRUµ���

$GGLWLRQDOO\��LQ�VHFWLRQ�-�RI�WKH�SROLF\��´EHIRUH�EHLQJ�LVVXHG D�JRYHUQPHQW�SXUFKDVLQJ�FDUG�RU�JRYHUQPHQW�FUHGLW�FDUG�
XQGHU�WKLV�SROLF\ DQG�VWDWH�ODZ� DOO�DXWKRUL]HG�XVHUV RI JRYHUQPHQW�SXUFKDVLQJ FDUGV�RU�JRYHUQPHQW�FUHGLW�FDUGV�
VKDOO�VLJQ�DQG�DFFHSW�EHORZ LQGLFDWLQJ�WKDW�VXFK�XVHU ZLOO�XVH�VXFK�FDUGV�RQO\�LQ DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�
WKH�SROLFLHV�RI�WKH�FLW\ DQG ZLWK�WKH�UHTXLUHPHQWV�RI VWDWH���



$IWHU�FRQGXFWLQJ�D�SUHOLPLQDU\�UHYLHZ�RI�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW�SXUFKDVLQJ�FUHGLW�FDUGV�IURP������������D�IHZ�
WUDQVDFWLRQV�VWRRG�RXW�DV�TXHVWLRQDEOH��VHH�DWWDFKHG���7KHUHIRUH��ZH�WKRXJKW�LW�ZRXOG�EH�EHVW�WR�KDYH�D�IXOO��H[WHUQDO�
UHYLHZ�FRQGXFWHG�WR�HQVXUH�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�3XUFKDVLQJ�&DUG�3ROLF\ DQG�6WDWH�RI�*HRUJLD�/DZV�

237,216� &RQWUDFW� ZLWK� DQ� H[WHUQDO� DXGLWLQJ� ILUP� WR� FRQGXFW� D� FRPSUHKHQVLYH� DXGLW� RI� WKH� JRYHUQPHQW�
SXUFKDVLQJ�FUHGLW�FDUG�WUDQVDFWLRQV�IRU�WKH�\HDUV���������� WR�HQVXUH�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�3XUFKDVLQJ�&DUG�3ROLF\
DQG�6WDWH�RI�*HRUJLD�/DZV��7KLV�VKRXOG�EH�H[HFXWHG�ZLWKLQ��� GD\V�RI�WKH�DIILUPDWLYH�YRWH�RI�WKH�FLW\�FRXQFLO��

5(&200(1'('�$&7,21���&RQWUDFW�ZLWK�DQ�H[WHUQDO�DXGLWLQJ�ILUP�WR�FRQGXFW�D�FRPSUHKHQVLYH�DXGLW�
RI�WKH�JRYHUQPHQW�SXUFKDVLQJ�FUHGLW�FDUG�WUDQVDFWLRQV�IRU�WKH�\HDUV�����������WR�HQVXUH�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�
3XUFKDVLQJ�&DUG�3ROLF\ DQG�6WDWH�RI�*HRUJLD�/DZV��7KLV�VKRXOG�EH�H[HFXWHG�ZLWKLQ �� GD\V�RI�WKH�DIILUPDWLYH�YRWH�
RI�WKH�FLW\�FRXQFLO�





CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

SUBJECT: Contract Management 

(  ) ORDINANCE (  ) POLICY (  ) STATUS REPORT 

(  ) DISCUSSION ONLY (  )  RESOLUTION (X) OTHER

Date Submitted: 10-2-2020     Work Session: Council Meeting: X 

SUBMITTED BY:   Jazzmin Cobble, George Turner, Rob Turner, Tammy Grimes 

PURPOSE:  Decide recourse options to take for 2 contracts that have been executed outside of the purchasing 
policy requirements. 

HISTORY:  It has been determined that at least 2 contracts, The Cornelius Group and Sean DePalma, have been 
executed under the non-competitive bid option which requires a properly executed and authorized requisition for 
the procurement as well as at least three informal written quotes for the procurement. Additionally, if a sole source 
procurement option was selected as the non-competitive procurement method, the purchasing policy requires that 
the user submit a justification to the purchasing agent after the approval by the city manager or the city council.  

FACTS AND ISSUES: To date, neither the authorized requisition, 3 written informal quotes, justification nor 
approval from the city council has been provided to support the execution of these 2 specific contracts. According to 
the terms of the contract, the city has paid approximately $5,000 against The Cornelius Group contract and approximately 
$7,500 against the contract with Sean DePalma. Section G: Disclaimer of Responsibility for Improper Purchasing of the 
purchasing policy states “........... any person acting outside this Policy or the authorization or delegation as provided 
in this Policy. The expense of any such disclaimed transaction will become the personal liability of the individual who 
acted improperly”. 

OPTIONS: The city attorney provided options that the council can take regarding contracts that have 
been executed outside of the requirements listed in the purchasing policy. In short, “Georgia law provides that 
the City cannot be bound to perform or pay monies under a contract or procurement that was made by public 
officer without the requisite authority to bind the City. If the requirements of the purchasing policy have not 
been met regarding procurement for any purchase, expenditure or agreement, the City may choose to either: (1) 
ratify the procurement; or (2) disclaim any and all responsibility and liability for the procurement”.



RECOMMENDED ACTION:  





















    

   

  

         



  

   

   

   

   

     

   
   
   

       

    
     
    
    
    
    
   
    
   

      
  

    
    
    
   
   
      
   
    

       

    

         
 

    

     



  

  

  

                  
             

              
            

               
      

                
       

                
    

           

              
         

               
         

        

              

                
             

              
            

              
             

              
     

                  
         

               

     



  

  

               
                  
              

           
             

   

               
                 

                
                 

                
              
                  
    

             

              

              

                
               

 

             
               

          
         

       

            

  

         

  

           

             
          

     



  

  

                 
                

              
     

              
            

               
                

                 
  

                 
                 

                
            

                    
  

             
                 

              

                 
     

                
                

  

                
     

           
                  

    

               
                

                
             

                  
           

     



  

             
               
             

            

           
     

                
             

                 
               

           
               

      

               
                 
 

               
              

                 
                

              
                

             
        

            
        

             
                  

                
              

              
    

          
               

           

                  
    

     



  

             
              

    

                
 

            
               

                
        

              
               

             
                

           
               
                

                 
                 

                
             

                 
         

              
             

   

             
           

              
                

             
          

                
                    

               
              

             
                

                

     



  

             
 

                 
             

              
                

             
               

          

              
     

           
        

              
             

              

           
               

           
               

              
            

          
            

      

                 
           

              
             

              
              

            

              
              

        

             

               
        

     



  

             
             
               

              

           
          

 

              
             

            
             

  

              
                 
           

               
                

 

                 
             
    

              
             

                
   

          
            

            
               
     

           
            

                
      

            
              

                
            

  

     



  

             
             

              
                 

    

              
            

 

                
                

     

            
              

              
              
              

        

    

                  
                   

          

     

                
              

               
             

               
              

              
              

     

              
             

        

                
                 

         

     



  

                 
      

               
       

     

                  
                 

               
           

              
           
               

            
               

           
              
                

     

               
              

                
             
                

    

             
             

            

               
          

               
                 

             
        

             
            

 

             
              

             

     



  

               
            

                  
           

     

                    
            

            
               

   

     

               
               

    

   

                   
                 

                   
               

    

               
             
          

                
           

   

               
               
              

   

       

           

    

     



  

             
                

     

     

    

    

       

              
                

                 

              
            

      

                 
            

                 
                

            
              

 

  

   

               
                  

                
        

           

              
                
                 
            

              
           

      

     



  

               

              
    

            

             
    

             
   

               
               

    

           
          

           
          

            
           

   

      

         

             
        

            
             

           
 

             
             

         

                
               

     

            
                

      

     



  

                    
    

                
      

             
               
               

                  
               
                

 

                
        

          

             
           

   

             

             
                

           
    

                
     

         
   

               
  

         

    

                
          

 

     



  

             
        

            
            

              
      

               
               

           
    

     

  

             

   

  

     

        

     

         

       

               
               
            

      

              
           

                 
   

              
 

     



  

              
              

 

           
          

   

               
          

         
               

                
       

         

       

             
 

            
         

     

              
         

         

       

        

         

       

    

       

     

     

       

     



  

      

       

            
               

              
              

                   
             

               
                  

                  
              

                  
          

   

       

               
  

                 
               
                   

     

                 
                  

                
                

                 
               

              
      

                
          

                 
      

           

    

     



  

               
            

  

               
                

                 
            

              

                 
                 

              
     

                
       

                 
         

                  
             

                 
             

     

                   
                 
                

                
                 

                 
          

                   
                
          

            
  

                 
                

                
   

              
                

                  
     

     



  

        

                 
             
            

               
               

                
              

                 
 

                
               

         

                 
                 
      

     

                 
               

            
               

     

                 
       

                
                 

            
              

     

               
                  

              
             

               
              

               
              

               
              

                
             

     



  

               
              

              
                

            
                  

           

        

                

           
                 

              
                

                 
      

               
              
                

    

                 
              

              
                  

               
            

            
     

    

                 
             

            

             
            

                 
             

                  
              

              
              

     



  

               
         

    

                   
               

               
               

            
             

                  
                

   

                
      

              

            
              

               
               

 

                 
              

               
             

                 
                  

             
        

                   
              

                
               

   

   

                
               
             

               
               
               

     



  

    

             
                

           
               

            
            

           
              
               

              
            

            
               

         

               
           

             
             

          
     

    

              
           

            
             

           
                

           
             
              

              
    

               
             

             
           

             
             
             

            
   

        

     



  

               
          

              
            

            
            

             

            
             

       

              
             

         
            

               
              

    

             
                

  

            
            

            
  

             
             

            
          

            
           

          
           

            

    

              
       

   

             

     



  

      

               
              
 

  

              
    

   

                
            

              
                  

                   
                   

        

    

            
             

               
             

               
         

    

            
             

               
                

              
               
               

              
              

    

   

              
               

               
             

              

     



  

              
  

               
   

   

            
                

             
          

                 
            

                
                  

                

               
                    

                  
                

               

      

              
            
               
               
           

             
             

              
                

   

            
               

                
             

            
     

         

               
             

             

     



  

               
             

             
              

             
          

             

    

     

              
                

       

  

              
              
    

   

                
                 

              
         

  

                  
               

    

     

              
            

             
                 

                
            

                 
       

     



  

                
             

 

                
          

                  
             

                
             

         

                 
                
 

               

                 
     

            
 

          
         
        
        

                  
              

              
    

      

               
             

               
            

              
           

     

               
                 

               

     



  

             
 

                 
                

 

             
            

                
              

            
              

              
                 
               

     

            
            

                
              
             

                  
  

                 
              

             
           

                
                

             
                

              
            

  

                
      

                
        

                
              

             
               

     



  

              
            

         

                 
              

  

                 
              

               
             

  

               
               

             
               

               
   

               
            

             
               

               
                

             
               
             

             
              
               

         

               
                

             

              
              
            

              
              

                  
                

                

     



  

              
                 

   

      

                   
               

              
                

               
               
   

                 
               

              
                

            

               
               

           
               

                 
                 
           

    

                 
                

                
         

    

                  
 

         

                
                 

               

     



  

           
            

       

                

    

  

             
              

              
                 
               

           
                

             
             

             
             

                  

     

     

             
               

              
            

                
            

      

               
            

 

            

     

            

            

 

     



  

                
           

          

               
            

             
                

   

             
             

            
            
          

      

                  
               

               

                 
              

              

          

           
                 

              

               
              

              
                
              

               
                 

             

       

           
            

      

     

     



  

               

     

               
             

         

              
              

            
            

           
              

      

              
               

            

                

   

             

            

  

               
              

               
                

               

 

           
               
            

                 

      

               
                 

   

     



  

              
                

             
               

               
                  

                     
             

 

                
           

               

  

             
               

 

                
            

                 
        

  

              
              
          

               
         

               
                 

 

             
    

          

              

   

              

      



  

             
               

 

    

     

               
              

          

              
              

             
         

      

               
                

            
            

             

             

       

                
   

    

              
                  

  

    

               
              

     



  

                

 

     



  

 

   

   

 

    



  

   

  

             
           

               
              

             
             

  

                 
               

                
                

             
                   

              
            

           

  

               
              

             
                 

               

       

  
   
   
     

   

            
             

    

   

     



  

            
              

            
               

                
             

                

 

   

              
   

        
     
              
             

     
               

          
             

      

             
              

      

             
    

           
      

        

  

             
        

               
        
        
         
         

     



  

            
        

                 

 
             

       
               

   
           

    

                
             

            
             

                 
            

              
            
               

              
              

           

  

               
             

               
            

                 
           

  

              
              
                 

            

   

 

     


	2020-10-12 Work Session Agenda v1.pdf
	CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION
	VIRTUAL MEETING
	October 12, 2020 at 6:00 p.m.
	Citizen Access: URL


	Budget Transmittal Letter FY21 v4.pdf
	FY2021 Stonecrest Draft Budget - 10-07-2020.pdf
	Work Session Agenda Item.pdf
	CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM

	2020-10-12 Council Agenda v1.pdf
	City Council Minutes 09282020.pdf
	Motion 1 – made by Council Member Rob Turner to approve the agenda with removal of Item C. Zoning Ordinance Revision Update under presentations and adding Item C. Discussion of Public Input during Public Hearings on Zoom under New Business and was sec...
	Motion passed unanimously.

	Stonecrest Police Feasibility Study.pdf
	Binder1.pdf
	Stonecrest report-cover

	Stonecrest Police Report.pdf

	Cover Ltr_ CITY COUNCIL (3)
	CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM
	Date Submitted: 9/22/20         Work Section:             Council Meeting: 9/28/20


	SLUP-20-003 Application - fuel pumps
	SLUP - fuel pumps
	SLUP LOI for Fuel Pumps
	3 Public Participation
	3A Notice Letter to Adjacent Property Owners
	4 Environmental Site Analysis
	5 SLUP Site Plan 2020.06.03
	6 Corner Lot Legal Description
	7 Elevation_NLP1
	Sheets and Views
	Layout1


	8 Trip Gen for 7101 Covington Hwy, Stonecrest GA - REV

	SLUP-20-003 Staff Report PC
	PC Power Point Sep
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Petition Information
	General Information
	Aerial Map 
	Zoning Map 
	Survey of Proposed Child Care Home 
	Elevation of subject property 
	STANDARDS OF REVIEW
	STANDARDS OF REVIEW
	Staff Analysis
	Slide Number 12
	Petition Information
	General Information
	Aerial Map 
	Zoning Map 
	Site Plan for Proposed Development
	Elevation of Commercial Development 
	STANDARDS OF REVIEW
	STANDARDS OF REVIEW
	Staff Analysis
	Planning Commission Recommendation

	Georgia Outdoor Stewardship Program Resolution .pdf
	Agenda Item 2 Packet-2.pdf
	Agenda Item 1 Packet.pdf
	Agenda Item 1 Packet
	Sean DePalma Consulting - 06-23-2020 (executed)


	Title: Police Services Fiscal Feasibility Study for the City of Stonecrest
	Author Name 2: 
	Author Name 1: 
	Institute Name or "A Report Prepared for (Client Name)": 
	Date: September, 2020


